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OUR
MISSION
TO HELP MEMBERS
ACHIEVE THEIR
FINANCIAL GOALS BY
BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS
FOR MUTUAL BENEFIT

OUR
VISION
■ C
 ommunity First is a member owned provider of
financial services in the greater Sydney market
■ We
 are devoted to “people helping people” to
achieve their financial goals
■ We
 continue to challenge stereotypes to remain
relevant to the members and market needs
■ W
 e will help create better and more sustainable
communities where we operate
■ Our

people deliver service standards superior
than our competitors and “a customer
experience” that promotes
why we are different
■ We
 make profits to reinvest in more services,
member and community benefits and fair fees
■ We
 expect to grow as a viable community
banking alternative
■ We
 manage our business for the long term and
intend to stay a mutual into perpetuity
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FIVE YEAR
SUMMARY
Total Assets
$’000

1,066,278

1,097,498

Gross Loans to Members
$’000
879,060
814,368

950,144
909,106
744,693

771,711

764,666
600,391

-15
14
20

-16
15
20

-18
17
20

-17
16
20

-19
18
20

Member Deposits
$’000

-15
14
20

-16
15
20

-17
16
20

-18
17
20

Total Members’ Equity
$’000

92,810

994,652
966,072

88,843

859,091

81,169

820,003

78,658

689,015

-15
14
20

67,986

-16
15
20

-17
16
20

-18
17
20

-19
18
20

Total Assets: The total of all Community First Credit
Union assets have grown by 2.9%.
Gross Loans to Members: Gross Loans to
Members is the total amount owed to Community
First from home loans, personal loans, credit cards
and overdrafts.
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-19
18
20

-15
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20

-16
15
20

-17
16
20

-18
17
20

-19
18
20

Member Deposits: Member Deposits consist of
savings, term deposits and membership shares.
Total Members’ Equity: Total Members' Equity is
accumulated profits and reserves held by Community
First. The credit union’s members’ equity now
exceeds $92.8 million. The credit union has never
been stronger.
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FIVE YEAR
HISTORY
2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15
INCOME STATEMENT
Total income

$'000

46,225

45,320

44,824

44,007

43,029

Interest income

$'000

39,616

38,300

37,039

36,217

35,666

Net interest income

$'000

24,059

21,815

21,687

21,524

18,479

Impairment losses on loans and advances

$'000

400

400

558

561

355

Operating expenses

$'000

28,835

25,503

25,662

25,636

22,584

$'000

1,203

2,201

2,511

2,401

2,222

Total assets

$'000

1,097,498

1,066,278

950,144

909,106

764,666

Gross loans and advances to members 2

$'000

879,060

814,368

771,711

744,693

600,391

Provision for loan impairment

$'000

1,431

1,431

1,431

1,431

1,100

Member deposits

$'000

994,652

966,072

859,091

820,003

689,015

Total Members' equity

$'000

92,810

88,843

81,169

78,658

67,986
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Operating profit after tax

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RATIO ANALYSIS
Total revenue to average assets

%

4.35

4.49

4.82

4.86

5.73

Operating expenses to average assets

%

2.71

2.53

2.76

2.83

3.01

Net profit after tax to average assets

%

0.11

0.22

0.27

0.27

0.30

Net profit after tax to average equity

%

1.34

2.59

3.14

3.25

3.32

Net interest margin to average assets

%

2.26

2.16

2.33

2.53

2.46

Provision for loan impairment to average loans

%

0.17

0.18

0.19

0.19

0.18

Net assets per Member

$

1,700

1,532

1,461

1,418

1,046

54,597

57,933

55,431

55,488

64,988

4,438

6,331

3,763

5,749

4,754

STATISTICAL INFORMATION
Number of Members 3
New Members
Notes:
1.	Excludes Impairment losses on loans and advances.
2.	Excludes Provision for loan impairment.
3.	Non-IFRS information has not been audited or reviewed by the external auditors, but has been sourced from the core banking system and includes regular dormant
account removals.
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CHAIR'S
REPORT
The 2018/19 year also presented a variety of
challenges. Among them, a record low interest
rate environment, changing competition,
increasing regulatory compliance, and a broader
industry trend of slower loan growth.
I am pleased to announce that Community First
not only met these challenges, we continued to
build and grow since reaching our first $1 billion
dollars in assets last financial year.
Indeed, despite the headwinds, the credit union
has been able to achieve strong levels of growth.
The Banking Royal Commission
One of the most significant events of 2018/19
was the Royal Commission into Misconduct
in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial
Services Industry led by Commissioner Hayne.

Stephen Nugent
Chair of Directors
Member and owner since 2002

The Royal Commission challenged trust in
banking, identified a variety of unscrupulous
practices, and instigated significant change.
Commissioner Hayne’s final report, provides a
road-map designed to ensure that customers’
interests are brought to the fore, and that
community standards and expectations are met.
This is being achieved by a number of reforms
resulting from the Royal Commission, including:
❙	
Expanding the Banking Executive
Accountability Regime laws to track those
responsible for any breach of lending laws.

What an extraordinary 12 months the
2018/19 financial year has been. On
one hand, it has been a year in which
Community First Credit Union has reached
a number of important milestones, which
we have been proud to share with our
members.
In particular, we celebrate 60 years of
operation having started in 1959 as the
Sydney Water Board Officers Credit Union
Co-Op with just 63 members. Since then
Community First has focused on helping
members achieve their financial goals,
and building relationships that deliver on
our promise to benefit members through
standards of service superior to our
competitors, fairer fees and competitive
interest rates on savings and loans. In a
world of rapid change, it is a legacy of which
we can all be proud.
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❙	The launch of a new independent authority
to ensure that the Australian Securities
and Investment Commission (ASIC) and
the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority (APRA) are both carrying out their
responsibilities.
❙	
An overhaul of ASIC’s approach to
enforcement, with a focus on court action
rather than infringement notices.
❙	
The establishment of a compensation scheme
of last resort for those unable to receive
financial recompense from their institution.
The Board of Community First Credit Union
welcomes the Commission’s recommendations
to strengthen the accountability and effectiveness
of regulators. However, it is also critically
important that the focus on competition is not
lost.
We have a banking market that is dominated by
four major players, who throughout the Royal

Commission proved that their focus is not always
on their customers’ best interests.
Conversely, Community First only exists to
benefit members, and accordingly does not have
the same issues the major banks were forced to
disclose.
Supporting competition
The enduring solution to issues of misconduct
is increased competition. A stronger and more
competitive customer-owned banking sector
provides consumers with choice.
To this end, the financial year saw Community
First support the ‘More than 4’ campaign
launched by the Customer Owned Banking
Association (COBA). The campaign alerted the
community to the high regulatory costs imposed
on customer-owned institutions such as ours,
which make the banking market less competitive
than it should be.
Smaller institutions face higher regulatory costs
relative to the major banks. Yet unlike the big
banks, mutual organisations such as Community
First, have no conflicts between shareholders
and customers. Our members are also owners,
and this provides valuable reassurance that we
always put our members’ needs first.
Defending our name
The financial year saw us rise to another,
very different, challenge – the defence of the
‘Community First’ name via a trademark dispute.
Our brand has a proud 60-year legacy. It speaks
of who we are and what we are about, and I am
confident that our members share our passion
for the right to use and defend our longstanding
name.
The defence of our name has taken Community
First all the way to the Federal Court. It has been
a process that has come at significant expense,
and this has impacted our profit result for the
2018/19 financial year. However, as a mutual,
we do not pay dividents to external shareholders
and have used our profitability to fund the court
case. A result is expected in the first half of the
2019/20 financial year, and we will keep our
members updated as news unfolds.
Staying relevant for future generations
Regardless of the outcome of the trademark
dispute, we continue to look towards a bright

WE CELEBRATE 60
YEARS OF OPERATION

future. Nonetheless, the world is changing,
and we must change with it in order to achieve
sustainable growth.
It is especially critical that our brand is able to
evolve so that we remain relevant to our target
markets. We know that younger generations of
Australians are often less familiar with the credit
union model despite considerable education
campaigns. Reflecting this, Community First
will consider making the move to a mutual bank
structure at a suitable stage in the future.
While such a move would support our brand
awareness and marketing initiatives, it would
mean very little change for our members in
practical terms. Nevertheless, it has the potential
to make a noteworthy difference to the value
of our brand, helping it to become more widely
recognised, and giving us greater scope to
compete for new customers who may not know
about the history of credit unions.
As we continue to position Community First for

future growth, the 2018/19 financial year saw
a refresh of our brand. The feedback we have
received from our members about the look
and feel of the new branding is highly positive.
Our concept store designs have also evolved
significantly since their introduction in 2006,
allowing us to deliver an even higher level of
service in a more engaging environment.
As we head into a new financial year, Community
First Credit Union remains a genuinely customerfocused alternative for all Australians to enjoy
outstanding value on financial products backed
by a commitment to putting our members’
needs first. We are proud to have withstood the
challenges of the past year with our reputation
unblemished and our position unaltered as a
strong and stable competitor in the financial
services sector.

enthusiasm and commitment to the credit union.
To our management team and staff, my sincere
gratitude for the passion you bring to your roles,
and your willingness to embrace change, which
allows us to explore new opportunities.
To our members, thank you for your loyalty and
for being such wonderful advocates of our brand
and our business.
Together, we embody the spirit that was first
ignited 60 years ago. And we are united by
the shared belief that by building relationships
for mutual benefit, we can help our members
achieve their financial goals.

Thank you
I would like to take this opportunity to thank
my fellow Board members for their continued

Stephen Nugent
Chair of Directors
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CEO'S
REPORT
The 2018/19 financial year has been one
of milestones, important achievements and
a celebration of Community First Credit
Union’s commitment to sustainable growth.
Last financial year, Community First
celebrated a very special milestone –
reaching our first billion dollars in assets.
For us, it was just the beginning. The
2018/19 financial year has seen us work
hard to further grow the business and chart
a course to reach our next billion.

John Tancevski
Chief Executive Officer
Member and owner since 2005

In 2019 we mark another milestone – 60
years of operation. It’s a fair bet that when
a small group of Sydney Water Board
employees sat around a table in 1959
to help their colleagues access finance,
they could never have imagined that their
fledgling organisation would grow to over
$1 billion in assets backed by 14 stores
and an extensive digital presence across
Australia.
A lot has changed since 1959, but some
things stay the same. Our mission of
helping members achieve their financial
goals by building relationships for mutual
benefit is unwavering. Today, we continue
to deliver on our promise to benefit
members through superior service, fairer
fees and competitive interest rates on
savings and loans. Quite simply, our model
of people helping people has stood the
test of time.
We also continue to pursue non-organic
growth. In September 2018, our merger
with CAPE Credit Union reached
completion. As our sixth merger of the
past decade, this is an initiative that takes
us from strength to strength by bringing
together like-minded organisations for
mutual benefit.

celebrating 60 years
6

In yet another milestone, 2019 sees
Community First celebrate our 10-year
relationship with the McGrath Foundation.
We made our first ever donation back in
2009, and over the course of a decade
we have raised over $900,000 for the

Foundation to support the placement of
breast care nurses in communities across
Australia.
Amid these anniversaries, the 2018/19
financial year dished up challenging
conditions in the home loan market.
Growth in housing lending has slowed,
credit conditions are generally tighter,
and the property market has weakened –
most notably in Sydney and Melbourne.
Despite this, we recorded exceptional loan
growth across our brands. I am delighted
to report that during the financial year our
loans grew by 7.9%, well above industry
performance.
It is an achievement we are extremely
proud of because our members voted
with their money and let their credit union
provide finance for what could be the
biggest financial decision in their lives.
Similarly, from an organisation perspective,
today’s record low interest rates have
demanded effective management of our
net interest margin in order to maintain
financial growth. We have risen to the
challenge and increased our net interest
margin to 2.26%.
The uncertainty of the Federal election
plus the after effects of previous limits on
investor and interest-only lending further
underpinned a reduction in investor
activity during the financial year. Looking
ahead, with investment lending caps now
removed, more competition and a more
certain policy environment, investor activity
will be reignited, and we are well-prepared
with a portfolio of competitive home loan
packages targeted at investors.
Across the financial services sector, our
products continue to be recognised via
industry awards for their outstanding
value. Our exceptional lending growth not
only reflects this value, it is also a function
of our investment in technology and the
commitment of our team, who work
together to ensure a smooth and positive
home loan experience.

A YEAR OF
MILESTONES

As always, we explore the merits of
new technologies, and in 2018/19 we
introduced fresh innovations to enhance
member experiences. We committed to
yet another upgrade of our mobile banking
app, introducing nine new card controls to
give members greater security and peace
of mind over their card payments.
We soft-launched payWave wristbands, a
waterproof battery-less, silicone band that
gives members even greater tap-and-go
convenience with purchases. We continue
to educate our members on the New

Payments Platform and mobile banking
app, as well as offering clear information
on how to make mobile payments via
Apple Pay™, Google Pay™ and Samsung
Pay™.
As one of the first financial institutions
in Australia to offer fast payment
technologies plus the full suite of mobile
payments (Apple Pay, Google Pay and
Samsung Pay), we are at the forefront
of bringing proven innovations to our
members. Moreover, we are proud of our
demonstrated ability to be nimble and

act fast in meeting consumers’ changing
needs – something that many of our
competitors are still trying to achieve.

John Tancevski
Chief Executive Officer
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ANNUAL
HIGHLIGHTS

2018
SEPTEMBER
JULY
■ C
 FCU achieves highest ever
NPS score of +41.8.

■ M
 obile apps were upgraded
with the release of 9 new
enhanced card controls
to give members more
control than ever over card
transactions.
■ T
 he Glendale retail financial
services store is relocated and
upgraded to a new concept
store in Edgeworth.

AUGUST

■ T
 he final stage of the CAPE
merger was completed with
system integration finalised.
CFCU members now have
access to a new store located
in the Sutherland Shire.

■ C
 ommunity First welcomes
a new partner to the Amigo
white label credit card
initiative.

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER
■ E
 asy Street was re-launched
with a new look brand and
refreshed website.

■ N
 ew alliance formed with
National Seniors Australia,
with a white label credit card
offering to be launched in
February 2019.
■ O
 nline chat launched.
■ N
 ew alliance formed with
South Sydney District Rugby
League Club, with a white
label credit card offering to be
launched in May 2019.
■ R
 e-launch of the Amigo white
label credit card initiative to 6
different Amigo relationships.

DECEMBER
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CELEBRATING
60 YEARS

2019
JANUARY
■ C
 FCU embarks on its 60th
year of operation.
■ C
 FCU sponsors Australia Day
events in the Sutherland Shire.

■ C
 ommunity Focus newsletter
digitised for the first time ever,
to bring members important
news and updates in a more
engaging way.
■ R
 oll out of the new look
Community First brand
commenced.

FEBRUARY

MARCH
■ C
 FCU’s annual report is
recognised yet again for
outstanding excellence
with a Silver Award from
the Australasian Reporting
Awards.

MAY
■ N
 ew look credit and debit
cards launched for Easy
Street, McGrath, and
Community First.
■ N
 ew partnership formed with
South Sydney Rabbitohs with
a Rabbitohs branded credit
card launched.
■ C
 FCU commenced the
upgrade of the core banking
system to deliver greater
efficiencies, improved
member experience and
ensure support for future
enhancements.

■ 1
 0 year anniversary of the
first donation to McGrath
Foundation.

■ T
 he refurbishment of the Dee
Why financial services store
was completed.

■ A
 new partnership is formed
with HATCH, an online,
not-for-profit organisation in
NSW, which provides support
and services for trainee
teachers to transition into full
professional status.

■ T
 he refurbishment of the
Penrith financial services store
was completed.

■ C
 FCU left the rediATM
scheme and rolled out CFCU
branded ATMs at most store
locations.

■ T
 he CFCU Lake Haven
financial services store was
relocated to a new concept
store at the Gorokan regional
office.

JUNE

■ C
 FCU ATM fees were
permanently removed on the
Pink Visa Debit transaction
account, making the product
better value than ever while
continuing to raise money for
the McGrath Foundation.

APRIL
9
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AN OVERVIEW OF
THE PROGRESS
MADE DURING
FINANCIAL YEAR
2018/19
60 YEARS OF
OPERATION

2019 marks 60 years of operation for Community First Credit
Union. In keeping with this exciting milestone, the 2018/19
financial year saw us achieve a number of important goals
and innovations. Join us as we look back over the key
highlights of 2018/19.
A new look for a major milestone

INNOVATION

EXCEPTIONAL
GROWTH

CREATING A CULTURE
THAT ACHIEVES HIGHER
PERFORMANCE

As part of our 60-year celebrations, we
took the opportunity to refresh our brand.
The result is a fresh new look for a number
of our stores and the Community First and
Easy Street websites. Increased brand
awareness is critical to our ongoing financial
performance, however our distinctive new
look continues to reflect our proud heritage of
‘people helping people’.
In keeping with our brand refresh, a number
of stores have been upgraded. Members
in Dee Why and Penrith now enjoy fully
refurbished financial services stores. The
Glendale retail financial services store was
relocated and upgraded to a new concept
store in Edgeworth. Our Lake Haven financial
services store was also relocated to a new
concept store at the Gorokan regional office.
Strong, sustainable growth
We are delighted to report exceptional growth
in 2018/19. Despite a highly competitive
lending market and a challenging regulatory
environment, the Easy Street brand achieved
outstanding loan growth of 76%, with record
fundings. Total loans to members now exceed
$879 million. Additionally, our lending growth
exceeded the industry average.
But we’re not resting on our laurels.
Recognising new areas of focus among our
members, we are continuing to build our solar
industry contacts, and this has helped to
underpin 12.5% growth in loans for solar.
10

The final stage of our merger with CAPE
Credit Union was seamlessly completed, with
full system integration finalised in 2018/19.
This has been a very special achievement
for our members in the Sutherland Shire,
who can now access a new store located in
Kurnell.
Playing a role in our local community
Our 60th year of operation marks another
important milestone – our 10-year
collaboration with the McGrath Foundation.
This enduring and successful partnership has
seen Community First Credit Union donate
over $900,000 to the McGrath Foundation
over the last decade, to help fund breast care
nurses for women and men experiencing
breast cancer. It is an achievement that we
are deeply proud of.
As part of this partnership, in 2018/19 we
permanently removed ATM fees on our
Pink Visa Debit transaction account, letting
members enjoy even better value, while
continuing to raise funds for the McGrath
Foundation.
Australia Day 2019 saw Community First
Credit Union support the Sutherland Shire
Council in their celebrations at Cronulla
Beach. Community First staff volunteered to
be part of the event, helping to raise funds
for Rural Aid in support of drought-stricken
communities. Using our tap and pay facility,
visitors were able to make donations for
Rural Aid as well as participating in a variety

of other fundraising initiatives. More than
a great opportunity to support the local
community, our involvement also raised
awareness of Community First Credit Union
in the Sutherland Shire following our merger
with CAPE Credit Union.
Deepening our relationship with
members
The 2018/19 financial year saw a
strengthening of our 60-year commitment to
connect with our members.
Our Community Focus newsletter was
digitised for the first time, allowing our
members to catch up on news and updates
in an engaging and personalised way.
We also achieved a significant uptick in
our digital audience. The Community First
Credit Union brand has enjoyed a 30% uplift
in new users, and the Easy Street brand
experienced a remarkable 120% rise in new
visitors.
We are proud to announce that in 2018/19,
Community First Credit Union achieved its
highest ever Net Promoter Score (NPS). The
NPS, which measures customer loyalty, has
risen to a 6-month average of 41.8 – up
from 39 previously.
Innovating business processes to
add value
Delivering exceptional service to members
lies at the heart of everything we do, and the
financial year saw Community First Credit
Union commence the upgrade of our core
banking system. This will not only improve
member experiences, it will also deliver
greater efficiencies and ensure support for
future enhancements.
Further improving member engagement,
we introduced a new trigger process report
to automate member contact across key
events and ensure members consistently
receive higher standards of service.
In April 2019, Community First Credit
Union left the rediATM scheme. Despite

a long term link to the rediATM network,
in late 2018, many local and foreign
banks removed ATM direct charge fees
for customers with cards from competing
banks. This means Community First
cardholders won’t be charged a fee when
accessing cash from the ATMs of major
banks, enabling our members to access
their cash from over 10,000 ATMs across
Australia, free from direct charges.

We have invested in an exciting new
partnership with South Sydney Rabbitohs,
with the launch of a Rabbitohs branded
credit card.

As part of this initiative, ATMs located in
our stores were rebranded to Community
First. These will remain direct charge free,
preserving the benefit of affordable banking
for our members.

We formed a new partnership with
HATCH, an online, not-for-profit initiative
which supports new teachers entering full
professional practice. HATCH provides
support and services for teachers to curate
quality resources and publications. The
organisation also provides employment
support and guidance on regulatory
requirements. HATCH is a cooperative
effort of key NSW professional teaching
organisations, and its membership includes
school principals and deans of education
from several leading universities.

Providing members with a variety of
channels to suit their needs
A number of initiatives have been introduced
that make it easier for our members to stay
in touch with us.
Our popular mobile app was upgraded in
August 2018, and now features nine new or
enhanced functions, giving members even
more control over their card transactions.
For the first time, online chat was launched
across both the Community First Credit
Union and Easy Street websites, an
initiative that has proven highly popular with
members. Recognising the value of social
media as a way to stay connected, we
introduced Facebook messaging to assist
members with general enquiries.
Seeking new alliance opportunities
In a competitive market, we continue to
deepen relationships with existing partners
while exploring new opportunities to grow
revenue and enhance our offerings to
members.
We formed a rewarding alliance with
National Seniors Australia, resulting in
the launch of a white label credit card in
February 2019. Community First Credit
Union also welcomes a new partner to the
Amigo white label credit card initiative.

The 2018/19 year also saw a strengthening
of our referrer relationships within the solar
industry Australia-wide, and we remain
committed to ongoing relationships with
Amigo and Clubs NSW.

Creating a culture that achieves higher
performance
In 2018/19, eight employees achieved 15
years of service to Community First. In total,
these long term colleagues have 195 years
of experience with our organisation.
A member of our staff was a finalist in
the Trainee of the Year category in the
Central Coast Group Training Awards. The
nomination for our staff member followed
the completion of a Financial Services
traineeship through Central Coast Group
Training.
We continue to invest in our staff training to
help serve our members with our Learning
and Development program BuiLD, which
is in its third year of operation. To date,
we have completed two programs with a
number of staff members embarking on a
new career path with Community First.

OUR APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk is an essential part of doing business. Understanding and
managing the risks – strategic, financial, regulatory, reputation
and operational, that Community First faces is key to the
successful governance of the credit union.
The Board and management team have a robust risk framework
in place developed in accordance with the Australian and
New Zealand international standard on risk management and
regulatory requirements.

We believe that aligning risk appetite, risk strategy and risk
culture drives a competitive and sustainable advantage.
It balances the risk appetite or the preferred level of risk
Community First is willing to accept in pursuit of its strategic
objectives, and risk tolerance as the maximum level of risk that
can be tolerated without risking the ongoing viability of the credit
union.
Further information on Community First Credit Union and its
approach to Risk Management is contained on page 23.
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OUR
STRUCTURE
Board

Members
as owners

CEO

Members
as customers

Departments

Leadership
Forum

DEPARTMENTS
Member Experience

Support Services

Finance

Stores

IT

Collections

Marketing

Member Administration

Corporate Services

Contact Centre

Credit Services

Company Secretary

Relationship Managers

Talent Management

Online Channels
Alliance Development
Managers
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Risk Management

EXECUTIVE MANAGERS
Company officers of the credit union at any time during or since the end of the financial year were:

JOHN TANCEVSKI

RICK DORE

HUNG TRUONG

Member and owner since 2005

Member and owner since 2010

Member and owner since 1999

B.Comm (Accy), FCPA, MBA GAICD

MBA, GAICD

B. Commerce (Accounting), FCPA

Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary
Director of Credit Card Company Pty Ltd
Director of Green Environment Finance Pty Ltd

Chief Operating Officer
Director of Credit Card Company Pty Ltd
Director of Green Environment Finance Pty Ltd

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
Director of Credit Card Company Pty Ltd
Director of Green Environment Finance Pty Ltd

MARTIN BARTER

GREG SPENCER

Member and owner since 2014

Member and owner since 2008

Associate of Institute of Bankers (ACIB UK),
Member of Securities and Futures Authority (SFA)

B.Comm Accounting and Finance

Chief Risk Officer

Chief Customer Officer

LEADERSHIP FORUM
The Leadership Forum is the
management committee that meets
regularly to discuss strategic and
operational issues and manage the
enterprise risk management framework.
The Leadership Forum is the principal
decision making committee through which
all business decisions and policies are
determined, and its participants include
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), his direct
reports, and relevant operational business
unit managers.

LEADERSHIP FORUM
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Community First members, Sherine and Jesse
(also pictured on front cover)

A growing number of Australians
took the opportunity to save on
their home loan by choosing
Community First

14

Sherine and Jesse are happy Community First members
who took out a construction home loan with us in July 2018.
They have built the house they are now living in and are very
proud of it.
Staff member, Elizabeth Fawns, at Penrith store helped them
with their loan.
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OUR
MEMBERS
As a mutual financial services organisation, we exist to benefit our members so it’s natural
that Community First continually looks for new ways to deepen our relationship with
members, improve our service standards and increase member satisfaction.
Our highest ever NPS

New payWave wristbands

We are proud to report that in 2018/19
Community First achieved its highest ever
Net Promoter Score (NPS) of 41.8, a jump
from 39 previously. The NPS is a measure of
customer loyalty, and we track the average
of our last six surveys to ensure the score
is representative of a range of views and
surveys.

As we seek new and better ways to serve
our members, we continue to explore
opportunities for innovation. At the end of
the 2018/19 financial year, we commenced
the soft launch for our new Visa payWave
wristbands.

An enhanced digital experience
The year saw our popular mobile app
upgraded across all our brands, giving
members even more control over card
transactions. Nine new functions were added
to the app, enabling members to block a
range of different transactions. We also
stepped up our education efforts on how to
use our mobile app and being vigilant when
banking online to help members enjoy safe
banking.
The way we communicate with, and support,
members continues to evolve. We launched
online chat during business hours on our
websites, an initiative that has proven very
popular to assist members with general
enquiries. Facebook messaging was also
launched, giving our members extended
support for general enquiries.
To further improve communications, our
tri-annual member newsletter was digitised
for the first time. The new digital format
allows important news and updates to be
delivered in a more engaging way, while also
allowing us to determine which types of news
articles are of most interest to members. This
innovation gives us greater scope to improve
our communications over time.

26,426

Total Internet Banking Users

The silicon waterproof bands require no
battery, and members can choose from
bands featuring either CFCU, Easy Street or
CFCU/McGrath branding. The wristbands will
be launched in the first quarter of the 2019/20
financial year, and will be available at no cost
to members who hold a transaction account
with us.
Delivering greater efficiencies
The financial year also saw Community
First begin the upgrade of our core banking
system. This will deliver greater efficiencies,
an improved member experience and ensure
support for future enhancements. The
upgrade also plays a key role in ensuring
a more future-ready platform for enhanced
digital integration capabilities.
Upgraded stores
The past 12 months have seen an upgrade
of our store network to deliver an improved
banking experience and greater convenience
in areas where it is most needed.

the Gorokan regional office. And our merger
with CAPE Credit Union was finalised in
September 2018 with full system integration,
and store access in Kurnell in the Sutherland
Shire for all members.
The upgraded locations all showcase our
refreshed branding, demonstrating the
evolution of our concept store design.
More options for members to access
their money
In April 2019, Community First withdrew from
the rediATM scheme. As part of this process
we rolled out Community First-branded ATMs
at our store locations with existing ATMs. This
strengthens our in-store branding and allows
members to enjoy direct charge-free access
to their everyday money.
We permanently removed ATM fees on the
Pink Visa Debit transaction account, creating
even better value for our members while
continuing to raise funds for the McGrath
Foundation.
Giving members better value home loans
Community First Credit Union and Easy Street
Financial Services both achieved strong
lending growth during the financial year.
A growing number of Australians took the
opportunity to save on their home loan by
choosing Community First.

The Glendale financial services store was
relocated and upgraded to a new concept
store in Edgeworth, and significant upgrades
were completed at our Dee Why and Penrith
stores. Our Lake Haven financial services
store was relocated to a new concept store at

30%

CFCU Website Visits

16,403
NPP Transactions
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kicking
off with
the rabbitohs
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The financial year saw Community First form an exciting alliance with
South Sydney District Rugby League Club – fondly known as ‘the
Rabbitohs’, with a white label credit card launched in May 2019. To
celebrate the launch, Community First sponsored the match between
the Rabbitohs and Wests Tigers on 25 May 2019. Not only did the
Rabbitohs walk away winners (final score 32:16), Rabbitohs fans can
now proudly support their club every time they shop using their card.
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OUR
COMMUNITY
Our name Community First Credit Union speaks of the commitment we make to the
communities in which our members live and work. This commitment is an integral part of
who we are, and we continuously look for ways to grow and strengthen our community
connections, while exploring opportunities to build new relationships and expand our
network of alliance partners.
Teaming up with the clubs industry
For more than a decade, Community First has
been a proud supporter of the clubs industry.
We recognise the valuable role clubs play in
local communities, and we continue to be a
Silver Corporate partner of ClubsNSW.
In 2017, Community First launched a unique
Club Rewards Account designed to integrate
with the rewards and loyalty programs offered
by participating clubs. Today, we currently
support five different clubs through our
rewards program, allowing participating clubs
to add value for members and deliver support
programs to their local communities.
New alliances through Amigo
In 2018, Community First relaunched our
Amigo white label credit card to six different
Amigo partners.
The Amigo white label credit card gives
smaller credit unions the opportunity to offer
their members the benefit of a low rate credit
card, in a margin-sharing arrangement with
Community First. Together with our Amigo
partners, we continually enhance training and
support, and improve processes to streamline
the Amigo experience.
Support for seniors
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We continue to support our local communities
by offering transaction fee free accounts for
not-for-profit community groups so they can
focus their funds on what matters most.

seniors in Australia, and half the annual card
fee will go to the National Seniors Foundation,
supporting financial literacy programs, as well
as lobbying for a happier and healthier old
age for all Australians.

Our introducer program plays a key role in
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our people
are integral to
our success
18

The BuiLD program, which has been running since
2017, supports Community First’s ongoing focus to help
our members achieve their financial goals by ensuring
our teams have the knowledge and skills to provide
appropriate information and guidance to members.

Annual Report 2019

Community First Credit Union

OUR
PEOPLE
In keeping with Community First’s mission to help members achieve financial goals by
building relationships for mutual benefit, we recognise and celebrate our employees’ length
of service when they reach significant milestones.

Celebrating 195 years’ combined
experience
During the financial year, eight staff members
each notched up over 15 years of service to
Community First. It’s an exceptional record of
commitment, and it brings a combined total
of 195 years of experience to our members.
Building on BuiLD
Recognising that our people are integral to
our success, Community First continues to
invest in the skills of our member-serving
teams through our learning and development
program – BuiLD (the ‘LD’ in BuiLD stands for
‘Learning and Development’).
The BuiLD program, which has been running
since 2017, supports Community First’s
ongoing focus to help our members achieve
their financial goals by ensuring our teams
have the knowledge and skills to provide
appropriate information and guidance to
members.
BuiLD training goals go beyond ensuring that
member-facing staff have the training and
knowledge to deliver a truly great member
experience. The program also allows staff
to experience professional growth and
development so that as opportunities become
available across our business, our people
are well-prepared and ready to build on their
career.
Enhancing lending skills
Community First makes it a priority to listen to
the feedback of our members and people.

Each year we ask members for their thoughts
on our services, and invite all our people to
identify how we can do things better through
independent surveys.
We do this to ensure the delivery of our
member service and products continues to
evolve in order to meet members’ needs in an
ever-changing world.
As a result of this feedback, we have worked
to better support staff through training, while
not losing sight of how our actions can impact
members. We are confident the new lending
skills being developed among our people will
assist us to deliver the best possible service
to new and prospective members.

Community First trainee, Lateesha Small

Trainee of the Year finalist
For two Community First trainees – Lateesha
Small and Amber Oldfield, the financial year
was an important milestone.
Lateesha and Amber joined us in January
2018 to complete a Financial Services
traineeship through Central Coast Group
Training (CCGT). Both Lateesha and Amber
have successfully completed their traineeship
and are now permanently employed by
Community First. Also, in November 2018,
Lateesha was nominated as a finalist in the
CCGT Trainee of the Year Awards. This is
a fantastic achievement for Lateesha, who
celebrated the event with a supportive team
of Community First colleagues.

It’s been quite a journey for Lateesha, who
says, “Thanks to CCGT and the training I
have been provided within Community First, I
have been able to complete my traineeship. I
have now been able to progress to a full time
position within the credit union’s Green Team,
where I am continuing to grow and learn new
things every day.”

Equal opportunity and diversity
We are pleased to advise that Community
First continues to be compliant with the
Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012.
With a workplace participation of 71%
female, our workplace encourages
participation at all levels. Of our
leadership positions, 25% are female.

152

Total Staff

108:42:2

Full time : Part time : Casual

71%:29%
Female : Male
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Many Australians are embracing a more sustainable
lifestyle – not just to reduce their eco-footprint, but also
to embrace the potential savings of lower utility bills

20
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OUR
ENVIRONMENT
Our Green Loans allow our members to embrace their eco-views, enjoy more sustainable
living and reduce their carbon footprint.

Many Australians are embracing a more
sustainable lifestyle – not just to reduce
their eco-footprint, but also to embrace
the potential savings of lower utility bills.
Community First is taking a leadership role in
this movement through our portfolio of low
interest Green Loans, that give members
affordable funding choices to make ecofriendly changes to their home and lifestyle.
Community First’s 5 and 10 year Green Loans
can be used for a variety of environmentally
sustainable purchases including rainwater
tanks, LED lighting, energy efficient
whitegoods, double glazing and more.
However, most members choose to use these
loans to install solar panels in their homes.
Supporting the shift to sustainable living
The 2019 Clean Energy Australia Report
sums up the trend to eco-friendly living,
saying “In 2017 records were broken. In
2018 they were smashed.” Over two million
Australian households installed rooftop
solar in 2018 – this equates to an average
of six solar panels being installed every
minute during the year. One in five Australian
households have now embraced solar power
to reduce their electricity bills.

Embracing shared value
Green Loans play a key role in achieving our
ethos of ‘shared value’. Quite simply, we are
investing with a purpose that goes beyond
revenue growth. Our Green Loans allow our
members to embrace their eco-views, enjoy
more sustainable living and reduce their
carbon footprint.
Along with the savings of a highly competitive
rate and zero fees for early repayment,
our Green Loans also deliver valuable
opportunities for members to reduce
household expenses through lower utility
bills. According to the Clean Energy Council,
households using solar power save an
average of $540 every year on power bills
(Source: www.cleanenergycouncil.org.au).
The benefit of these savings can go well
beyond individual households. Over an
extended period, savings on utility bills can
give our members extra cash to inject into
their local economy. This further enhances our
commitment to supporting the communities
that Community First Credit Union is part of.

The growth in Community First’s Green Loan
assets is testimony to the shift towards more
sustainable living by our members. As at
30 June 2019, our Green Loans portfolio
increased 12.49% from 2017/18.

12%

Funding increase from 2018

1,560

Members who saved

$8,362

Average Green Loan Amount
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
The Corporate Governance Statement should be read in
conjunction with the Directors’ Report.
Corporate Governance describes the practices and processes
adopted by an organisation to ensure sound management of the
organisation within the legal framework under which it operates.
Community First is licensed as an Authorised Deposit-taking
Institution (ADI) under the Banking Act 1959 (as amended) by the
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) who also acts as
the regulator for Prudential Risk.
Since 1 November 2003, Community First has also operated
under an Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence issued by the
Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) under
section 913B of the Corporations Act 2001.
Community First is regulated by ASIC for adherence to the
Corporations Act 2001, for the Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), for adherence
to the National Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009) in
maintaining fair lending practices and for Financial Services Reform
(FSR) requirements. The general requirements under the FSR
legislation are to:
❙	be licensed by ASIC to carry on a financial services business;
❙	comply with AFS licence conditions and financial services laws;
❙	disclose details of Community First’s products and services;
❙	maintain training and appropriate competency levels for all staff
who deal with members; and
❙	provide an effective and independent complaints handling
process.
Both ASIC and APRA may conduct periodic inspections of our
operations and Community First reports to both annually on our
compliance with their respective requirements. The external auditor
also reports to both ASIC on AFS Licensee requirements and to
APRA on Prudential Standards compliance.
Members
The interests of members are paramount in the operation of
Community First Credit Union Limited. Our members, as owners
and shareholders, operate Community First through their approval
of Community First’s Constitution, the democratic election of
a Board of Directors and the democratic process of General
Meetings. The Board has responsibility for overseeing the
management of the affairs of Community First on behalf of our
members.
Board of Directors - Role of the Board
The responsibilities of Community First’s Directors arise from statute
and common law. The most relevant statutes are the Banking Act
1959 (as amended), the Corporations Act 2001, and the National
Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009).
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall Corporate
Governance of Community First. The Board has a clear view of
its governance responsibilities and believes it has the necessary
experience, skills and mix of people to oversee the development
of the higher standards of corporate integrity and accountability
required of an ethical organisation. There is a clearly accepted
division of responsibilities at the head of Community First, which
ensures an appropriate balance of power and authority.
22

The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and
administration of the Credit Union to the Chief Executive Officer and
executive management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal
delegations of authority.
Composition of the Board
The Board of Directors of Community First Credit Union is
currently comprised of nine Directors elected by Community First’s
membership or by the Board through a merger. No members of
the management team sit on the Board; it is composed entirely of
non-executive Directors.
A minority of Directors are elected each year in rotation and
serves a three-year term. There is no limit on the number of terms
that a person may serve as a Director. Any Member, subject
to qualifications set out in the Constitution, APRA’s prudential
standards and the Banking Act, is eligible to nominate as a Director.
Nominations for the position of Director, including those from
elected Directors offering themselves for re-election, are part of the
election process. A candidate must be nominated by two different
Community First members, be assessed by the Board Nominations
Committee, meet the Fit and Proper Persons requirements of
the Banking Act 1959, and if the number of candidates exceeds
the number of vacancies, be elected by postal ballot under the
supervision of an independent Returning Officer. Details of the
Directors who held office during the financial year are set out on
page 26 to 30 of this Report.
Board Processes
The Board meets regularly and accepts responsibility for the
overall governance of Community First, including the formation
of strategic direction and policy, approval of plans and goals for
Management and the review of performance against these goals. It
has also established appropriate structures for the management of
Community First including an overall framework of internal control,
risk management and the establishment of ethical standards.
The Board has approved a detailed formal policy for the ongoing
training and development of Directors.
General processes for the operation of the Board have been
formally documented, including:
❙	declaration of conflicts of interest;
❙	checks that are required to satisfy the ‘Fit and Proper Persons’
requirements of the Banking Act;
❙	a statement of responsibilities and duties of the Directors; and
❙	the division of responsibility between the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer.
To increase its effectiveness, the Board has established
Committees with responsibility for particular areas. The role of each
Committee, together with the Terms of Reference that set out their
responsibilities and duties, is documented in a Policy statement
approved by the Board of Directors. These Committees are:
❙	Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee
❙	Board Audit Committee
❙	Board Risk Committee
❙	Board Nominations Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
Board Composition and Review of Performance
The Board has a procedure for the assessment of its performance
as a whole, the performance of individual Directors and the Chair.
The assessments are conducted annually, identifying priorities for
the professional development of Directors and help to improve the
performance of the Board and individual Directors in the execution
of their duties and responsibilities.
The Board has established a system to review the skills and
experience of all Directors to ensure it retains an appropriate mix of
skills within the composition of the Board.
Board Remuneration
Remuneration of Directors is determined by reference to
an independent Australia-wide survey of mutual directors’
remuneration. Recommendations on remuneration are submitted
for consideration by members at the Annual General Meeting. In
addition to the remuneration, Directors are reimbursed for out-ofpocket expenses incurred in their role. There are no other benefits
received from Community First.
The Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee
performs the review of the Board remuneration.

responsible position who have been disqualified from acting in such
a role.
Risk Management
Community First’s risk assessment process has been developed in
accordance with APRA Prudential Standards and the Corporations
Act.
The process assists the Board and senior management to identify
and understand significant risks faced by Community First.
Risk assessment, internal controls and internal audit play an
important role in Community First’s corporate governance,
assurance and compliance framework.
Compliance
Community First’s compliance process has been developed in
accordance with Australian regulatory guidance. The process
assists the Board to ensure that we remain aware of changes in
legislation, codes and comply with the Prudential Standards.
Specific change in legislation which were considered during the
Financial Year 2019 include:
❙	The Banking Executive Accountability Regime (BEAR)

Management Remuneration

❙	Prudential Standard CPS 234 Information Security

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, Executive
Management, key Finance and Risk managers are reviewed by
the Board on an annual basis taking into account Community
First’s performance and current market conditions. Remuneration
arrangements for other executives and staff are determined by
the Chief Executive Officer by reference to external advice, Award
remuneration levels and Community First’s performance.

❙	Revision to the capital framework of authorised deposit taking
institutions.

Ethical Standards
Any interest in contracts or any other potential or actual conflict
of interest is declared at each Board meeting where the Director
becomes aware that a conflict has or may arise. All business
conducted by Directors in the normal course of their transactions
with Community First are conducted on terms and conditions that
apply to any other Member. All loans to an individual Director may
only be approved by a majority of the other Directors. Loans to the
Chief Executive Officer are handled in a similar manner.
The Board has accepted to be bound by the Ethics and Values
Principles set down by the Customer Owned Banking Association
(COBA).
The Board has also agreed to be bound by the Mutual Banking
Code of Practice and ePayments Code of Conduct which sets
down principles by which Community First deals with its members
and keeps them informed of services available, costs and other
relevant information. As part of these Codes, Community First has
implemented procedures for resolving complaints with members
on transactions and refers disputes to an independent arbiter, the
Financial Services Ombudsman.
Fitness and Propriety
Community First undertakes an annual assessment of all Directors
and Senior Management to determine their fitness and propriety
for the roles they are required to fulfil. This assessment must at
least meet the requirements of APRA’s Prudential Standard for Fit
and Proper persons, and ensures that there are no persons in a

Employee Wellbeing
Community First has a well established Work Health and Safety
(WHS) Committee, and committee members are appointed by their
peers to represent all employees in the organisation. This provides
Community First with the forum to consult with staff on WHS
activities and issues should they arise. Committee members are
accredited in WHS consultation and their contribution to WHS is
attributable to the low level of incidents in our workplace.
We value the well being of our employees and have initiated
new safety programs to further enhance the health and safety of
employees throughout the year. This includes training for first aid,
robbery safety awareness, flu precaution actions and employee
assistance programs.
At Community First, we recognise that a strong and positive
culture is achieved through shared values and beliefs. Importantly,
attracting and retaining talented people who support our values is a
key initiative of our organisation.
Community First’s flexible and diverse workforce consists of 152
full time, part time and casual staff across our Store network, head
and regional offices and we firmly believe our staff represent the
communities in which we serve.
With a workforce participation of 71% female, our workplace
encourages participation at all levels. Of our leadership positions,
25% are female and we currently support over 61% staff in part
time employment and flexible working options (including working
from home and flexible working hours).
We actively seek people from all walks of life to ensure a balanced
and diverse workforce and to promote a workplace environment
which fosters ideas and new ways of doing things.
Community First is proud to be compliant with the requirements of
the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012.
23
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
Board Committees

Board Audit Committee

Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee

The Board Audit Committee is established to oversee the financial
affairs of Community First and its controlled entities. It also
considers matters concerning the internal and external audits.
Broadly, the Committee assists the Board by:

This is a committee comprised of the Board’s Chair and four other
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer.
Its major activities are:
❙	monitoring corporate governance development and
bringing to the Board’s attention matters of importance and
recommendations for improvement;
❙	reviewing the guidelines for Directors, and monitoring
compliance;
❙	recommending policies and guidelines for the process of
disclosure of information from the Board to shareholders;
❙	facilitating effective communication between the Board and
Management;
❙	co-ordinating Community First's strategic planning process;
❙	co-ordinating the appraisal of Board skills mix, performance
review and the Director education program;
❙	developing Executive Management and Director succession
plans; and
❙	reviewing Board remuneration and recommendation to the
Annual General Meeting.
The members of the Committee during the year were:
Chair		
Members
S. Nugent		J. Johnson
S. Lowndes
B. Rankine (to November 2018)
R. Scopelliti (from November 2018)
G. Thomson
J. Tancevski*
* A sub-committee of the Committee, titled the Remuneration
Committee, reviews the performance and remuneration package
of the Chief Executive Officer, their direct reports, key Finance and
Risk managers. The Chief Executive Officer is not a member of
this sub-committee.
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❙	overseeing financial reporting including the integrity of financial
statements and the independent audit thereof;
❙	overseeing the audit process including engagement of the
External and Internal Auditors for both corporate and prudential
regulation purposes;
❙	overseeing the coordination of the external and internal audit
functions;
❙	performing the role required under the Prudential Standards of
participating in the tripartite arrangements between the Australian
Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), Community First and our
External and Internal Auditors;
❙	acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the
Board’s responsibilities;
❙	supervising special investigations requested by the Board; and
❙	considering the results of assurance activities within the 3-lines of
defence model contained in the prudential standard.
The Committee is comprised of up to four Directors and one
associate Director, none of whom is the Chair of the Board.
The members of the Committee during the year were:
Chair		
Members
K. Pickering	M. Haes (resigned December 2018)
N. Kelly
S. Korchinski
B. Rankine (from November 2018)
R. Scopelliti (to November 2018)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
Board Risk Committee

Board Nominations Committee

The Board Risk Committee is established to oversee the
establishment, implementation, and annual review of Community
First and its controlled entities Risk Management System. The
focus of the Board Risk Committee is to monitor the organisations
Risk Management Framework and provide oversight of the
enterprise wide risk management systems. This includes the
evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls and policies.

This Committee comprises one external independent Chair,
one member of Community First and one Director. The Director
representative cannot be a person standing for election or be a
person nominating or seconding a person for election.

Broadly, the Committee assists the Board of Directors to effectively
discharge its responsibilities within the context of the Board
determined risk appetite, consider the treatment of material risk by:
❙	overseeing the risk management strategy and framework of
Community First;
❙	making recommendations to the Board concerning the risk
appetite statement and tolerance limits
❙	monitoring risk management practices;
❙	reviewing management’s plans for mitigation of material risks;

The role of this Committee is to review checks relative to ‘Fit
and Proper’ tests and to interview persons who have been
nominated for election as a Director, to establish the suitability and
qualifications of the person.
The Committee then expresses an opinion in the material
accompanying ballot papers as to whether the Committee
considers the nominee has demonstrated his/her ability to meet
the requirements to be a Director of Community First Credit Union
Limited.
The members of the Committee during the year were:
Chair		
Members
P. Johnson	A. Deacon
S. Lowndes

❙	promotion of a risk based culture;
❙	achieving a balance of risk and reward;
❙	monitoring Community First’s compliance with relevant Board
policies, prudential and statutory requirements;
❙	acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the
Board’s responsibilities;
❙	supervising special investigations requested by the Board;
❙	monitoring the three year rolling business plan for consideration
in strategy discussions and annual budgets;
❙	overseeing the annual risk management attestation for the
regulator and
❙	considering the results of assurance activities within the three
lines of defence model contained in the prudential standard.
The Board Audit Committee also undertakes an annual review of
the performance of the internal auditors and external auditors whilst
the Board Risk Committee reviews the performance of the Risk
Management section to identify any opportunities for improved
performance and more effective oversight.
The Board Risk Committee is comprised of up to four Directors and
one associate Director, none of whom is the Chair of the Board.
The members of the Committee during the year were:
Chair		
Members
K. Pickering	M. Haes (resigned December 2018)
N. Kelly
S. Korchinski
B. Rankine (from November 2018)
R. Scopelliti (to November 2018)
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of
Community First Credit Union Limited (“Community First” or "the Credit
Union"), and of the Consolidated Entity, being the Credit Union and its
controlled entities, for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 and the
auditor's report thereon.

STEPHEN NUGENT
Member and owner since 2002
B Bus. (Marketing), Grad Cert Internet Mkt.,
AFAMI, JP, AMP (Harvard)

Chair of Directors
Chair of Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee
Mr Nugent joined the Board as a Director
in May 2002. Stephen has more than
30 years experience in the finance and
insurance industries and was formally the
Chief Customer Officer for The Hospital
Contributions Fund of Australia Limited
(HCF). Stephen is also a Director of the
Customer Owned Banking Association.
Stephen brings to the Board a wide range
of experience in project and operations
management, process improvement, sales,
marketing, customer service, financial
management, Retirement and aged care,
strategic planning and compliance.
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JACKI JOHNSON

NURIA KELLY

STUART KORCHINSKI

Member and owner since 2005

Member and owner since 1989

Member and owner since 2004

BAppSc (OT), EMBA (AGSM), GradDip Safety
Science, FAICD

Assoc Dip Accounting, Cert Financial Markets
(SIA), Dip Law, Solicitor & Barristers Admission
Board, MAMI.

B. Comm (Honours), CPA, CA, MAMI

Member of Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee

Member of Board Audit and Board
Risk Committees

Member of Board Audit and Board
Risk Committees

Jacki recently retired from her Group
Executive role with Insurance Australia
Group and is now an advisor to the Group
on Climate, Sustainability and Resilience.
In this capacity she holds the roles of Co
Chair United Nations Environment Financial
Initiative, Co Chair Australia Sustainable
Finance Initiative and Steerco member
Resilient Sydney.

Ms Kelly joined the Board as an Associate
Director in May 2002 and was elected to
the Board in 2003. Nuria has more than
20 years experience in financial planning
and management, with qualifications from
the Securities Institute of Australia and an
Associate Diploma in Accounting and a
Diploma of Law. Nuria has recently retired
as principal of a Financial Planning and
Stockbroking Practice and brings to the
Board her experience of working closely
with Community First members through
her financial planning and stockbroking
role. Nuria was previously Head of Financial
Services Sydney with RSM Bird Cameron.

Mr Korchinski was appointed to the Board
in June 2004 to fill a casual vacancy.
Stuart has spent the last 27 years in the
accounting profession and the general
insurance, superannuation, wealth
management and related technology
industries in a variety of leadership roles.
He is a Chartered Accountant and former
Managing Director of ASX-listed Diversa
Limited, CitiStreet Australia, Telstra’s
KAZ Business Services, Australian
Administration Services and Chief General
Manager of Allianz’s personal insurance
business.

She is also a member of Chief Executive
Women. From 2010 to 2016 Jacki was
Chief Executive for IAG’s New Zealand
business.
Former roles include President of the
Insurance Council of New Zealand,
Chair of the Christchurch Recovery Chief
Executives' meeting, and Executive
Director IAG NZ.
Jacki was recognised by the NZ Herald
in December 2015 as NZ Executive of
the Year. She is a former Non Executive
Director of the New South Wales
WorkCover Authority and the Personal
Injury Education Foundation.

Ms Kelly is also a Director of Foot of the
Mountains Pty Ltd which owns retail
businesses in the Blue Mountains. Foot
of the Mountains also holds interests in
various properties and online businesses.

He is also a former non-executive director
of Enhanced Payment Technologies,
Thai Administration Services Co. Ltd
and financial advice company, Money
Solutions.
Stuart is currently an Executive Director
and CEO of SuperChoice Services Pty Ltd,
a specialist superannuation technology
company, Chairman of Datacenter Limited
and Director of PayClear Services Pty Ltd.
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The Directors of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

STEPHEN LOWNDES

KENNETH PICKERING

WILLIAM RANKINE

Member and owner since 1999

Member and owner since 1968

Member and owner since 1978

B. Rur. Sc. (Hons) UNE, MAMI

Dip Fin Serv, Ass. Dip. Bus. Mgt., FAICD Dip,
AARPI, FAMI, AIMM.

MBA, Grad. Dip. Bus., Dip. Corp. Mgmt.,
Cert. Acctg.

Member of Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee

Chair of Board Audit and Board Risk
Committees

Member of the Board Audit and Board
Risk Committees

Mr Lowndes was appointed to a casual
vacancy on the Board in March 2001
and elected as Chair from July 2008 to
November 2015. Stephen has 30 years
experience in data analysis, systems
development, policy formulation, strategic
planning, executive management and
industry representation, gained in the
Commonwealth Public Service, Private
Health Insurance, Aged Care and Health
industries. Stephen has served on the
Boards of the Australian Friendly Society
Association, the Australian Health
Services Alliance and the Australian Health
Insurance Association, and a number
of not-for-profit community services
organisations.

Mr Pickering has been a Director since
1972 serving as Chair between 1984
and 1992 and Vice Chair between 1982
and 2009. Ken has had a close affinity
with the broader Credit Union movement
through his service on CUSCAL’s National
Membership Council between 1990 and
2000, as CEO Australasian Institute of
Credit Union Directors between 1995 and
2005 and Executive Manager Professional
Development for Australasian Mutuals
Institute between 2006 and 2015.

Mr. Rankine joined the Board of
Community First Credit Union as a NonExecutive Director in June 2018. He has
been a Director of CAPE Credit Union for
over 12 years and the Board Chair for over
9 years.

Stephen was formerly a member of
the Management Board of Manchester
Unity Credit Union, Chief Executive of
Manchester Unity Australia Ltd, CEO of the
Aged and Community Services Association
of NSW and ACT, a peak industry
association representing not-for-profit
aged care providers and Chief Executive
Officer of the Royal Rehab, a not-forprofit specialist rehabilitation and disability
hospital. He is currently the CEO of the
Men of League Foundation.

Prior to this, Ken had 25 years’ experience
at Sydney Water, including a number of
executive management positions relating
to the change management program
launched from 1983. Since 1993 he has
been engaged in the provision of business
management and consultancy services in
both the customer owned banking industry
and small business along with some
property development projects.
Between December 2014 and July 2018
Ken served as Learning & Development
Consultant for the Institute of Strategic
Management and on the Advisory Board
for that Institute. He is also a Trustee of two
self managed superannuation funds.
He is a Graduate of the Diploma Course,
has been a Fellow of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors for 26 years and in
2016 was admitted as an Associate of the
Australian Risk Policy Institute.
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Bill was an employee of Caltex Australia
for over 30 years. He held executive
positions in marketing, sales, risk
management and administration. He has
extensive experience and knowledge in
many aspects of business management,
including, risk management, marketing
& sales management, credit risk
management, corporate governance and
compliance. Bill currently serves on the
committees of the local Beecroft Probus
group and the Beecroft Cheltenham Civic
Trust.

ROCKY SCOPELLITI

GARY THOMSON

MATTHEW HAES

Member and owner since 2013

Member and owner since 1979

(Associate Director) resigned December 2018

Grad.Dip.Corp.Man, MBA, GAICD, MAMI

Grad. Dip. LG.Man, Dip. Govt., MLGMA,
MPIA

Member and owner since 2011

Member of Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee

Member of Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee

Member of Board Audit and Board
Risk Committees

Mr Scopelliti joined the Board as a Non
Executive Director in March 2013. Rocky
is the Director – Centre for Industry 4.0 at
Optus where he leads the creation of world
class thought-leadership and innovation to
advise enterprises on the Fourth Industrial
Revolution. He is also a member of the
REST Super Technology Advisory Panel
and member of the Australian Payments
Council.

Mr Thomson joined the Board of
Community First Credit Union as a NonExecutive Director in December 2016.
He was previously a Director and Chair of
Manly Warringah Credit Union Ltd since
2006.

Mr Haes joined the Board as an Associate
Non-Executive Director in December 2016.
He was previously a Director of Northern
Beaches Credit Union Ltd from 2011.

A distinguished Futurologist, author and
international key note speaker, Rocky
has contributed to the World Economic
Forum’s Disruptive Innovation in Financial
Services Program, delivered key note
addresses at events such as Mobile World
Congress and published twelve thought
leadership research reports on digital
disruption that have become internationally
recognised.
Rocky has more than twenty years senior
management experience in the information
technology and financial services
sectors with Telstra Corporation and the
Commonwealth Bank of Australia covering
product development, strategy, business
development, marketing and research.
Educated in Australia and trained in the
United States, at Sydney University and
Stanford University, Rocky has a Graduate
Diploma in Corporate Management and
a Masters in Business Administration.
He is also Graduate and member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Gary has a broad range of experience
in strategic planning, risk management,
executive management and governmental
relations.
Gary retired in July 2018 but was
previously employed as a Project Manager
at Singleton Council from 2017 to 2018.
From 2010 to June 2017 he was Assistant
General Manager at Singleton Council
following 3 years working as a consultant
in the areas of planning and business
reorganisation particularly related to waste
management. Prior to this he worked for
Warringah Council for 28 years where his
finishing role was as Director of Customer
and Community Services.
He has extensive Board experience
having previously been a member of the
Glen Street Theatre Board of Directors
and Hunter Resource Recovery Board
of Directors. He is currently a Director of
Balmain Rugby League Football Club and
Balmain District Junior Rugby League
Club.

B.Ec (Syd), ACA, AGIA ACIS, GAICD

Matthew’s financial services experience
spans over 20 years in senior finance
roles, covering wealth management,
securitisation, capital markets and funds
management.
Matthew is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary at HUB24 Limited, an
ASX listed financial services technology
company specialising in investment and
superannuation platforms.
Matthew is a Director of the HUB24
Group’s subsidiary companies, a
Responsible Manager, a member of the
executive committee and serves the
committees of the Board.
He spent eight years as Finance Manager
and Company Secretary at Centric Wealth
Limited where he developed the finance
function and integrated businesses
resulting from the company’s merger and
acquisition activities.
He was chairman of the Audit & Risk
committee for Northern Beaches Credit
Union for four years until the merger with
Community First Credit Union.
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Directors’ Meetings
The number of Directors' Meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the
Directors of the Credit Union during the financial year are outlined in the table below:

Name

Status

Corporate
Governance &
Remuneration
Committee
Meetings

Board
Meetings

Board Audit
Committee
Meetings

Board Risk
Committee
Meetings

Board
Planning
Meetings

a

b

a

b

a

b

a

b

a

b

Mr Stephen Nugent

Non-Executive

8

8

4

4

-

-

-

-

1

1

Mr Matthew Haes

Non-Executive
Associate Director

4

4

-

-

2

2

2

2

-

-

Ms Jacki Johnson

Non-Executive

8

8

2

4

-

-

-

-

1

1

Ms Nuria Kelly

Non-Executive

8

8

-

-

4

4

4

4

1

1

Mr Stuart Korchinski

Non-Executive

6

8

-

-

3

4

3

4

1

1

Mr Stephen Lowndes

Non-Executive

8

8

4

4

-

-

-

-

1

1

Mr Kenneth Pickering

Non-Executive

7

8

-

-

4

4

4

4

1

1

Mr Bill Rankine

Non-Executive

8

8

2

2

2

2

2

2

1

1

Mr Rocky Scopelliti

Non-Executive

6

8

2

2

1

2

1

2

1

1

Mr Gary Thomson

Non-Executive

7

8

4

4

-

-

-

-

1

1

The Nominations Committee held one meeting during the financial year. The meeting was attended by Paul Johnson, Angela Deacon and
Stephen Lowndes.

a – Number of meetings attended.
b - Number of meetings that the Director was eligible to attend. Leave of absence was granted for meetings unable to be attended.

30

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Directors’ Interests
Each Director holds one redeemable preference share (Member share) in the Credit Union held in their capacity as a Member.
Financial accommodation to Directors complies with the Corporations Act and was made on terms and conditions available to all members
generally. Details are set out in the Notes to the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards.
During and since the end of the year under review, no Director has received, or become entitled to receive, a benefit except a benefit of the
type included in the aggregate amount of Directors’ remuneration shown in the Notes to the Financial Statements.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Credit Union during the year were the provision of retail financial accommodation and associated services to
members.
There were no significant changes in these principal activities during the year.
Operating Results
The net profit after income tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 was $1.203m (2018: $2. 201m). The net interest income increased
by $2.2m to $24m with the net interest margin increased 10 basis points to 2.26% from the previous year. Non-interest income decreased by
$411k with loan and advances impairment losses remained on par. The total operating expenses increased by $3.3m.
Review of Operations
Total assets on balance sheet as at year end were $1,097m representing an increase of $31m from the previous year. The loans portfolio has
increased by $64.9m or 8%. Total deposits grew by $28.6m or 3% for the year.
Dividends and Franking Credits
The Credit Union's Constitution is based on the principles of mutuality and prevents the payment of dividends to members.
State of Affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Credit Union during the financial year under
review not otherwise disclosed in this report or the financial report presented.
Environmental Regulation
The Credit Union's operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation under either Commonwealth or State legislation. The
Board believes that the Credit Union has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware
of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the organisation. However, the Credit Union is committed to helping
create better and more sustainable communities, and has launched a number of products to promote environmentally sustainable initiatives
by consumers through the use of low interest “Green” personal loans.
Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Credit Union, to affect significantly the operations of the Credit Union,
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Credit Union, in future financial years.
Likely Developments
The Credit Union will continue to pursue its mission of helping members to achieve their financial goals by building relationships for mutual
benefit. It will also strive to seek growth in all areas of the operation.
Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors
During the year, a premium was paid in respect of a contract insuring Directors and Officers of the Credit Union against all liabilities to other
persons (other than the Credit Union or a related body corporate) that may arise from their positions as Directors and Officers of the Credit
Union except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The Officers of the Credit Union covered by the insurance
contract include the Directors, Executive Officers, Company Secretaries and other relevant employees.
In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of the total amount of premium payable under, and the nature of liabilities covered
by, the insurance contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the contract.
No insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of the auditors of the Credit Union.
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 79 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30
June 2019.
Rounding
The amounts contained in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand in accordance with ASIC Corporations
(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. The Credit Union is permitted to round to the nearest thousand ($’000) for all
amounts except prescribed disclosure that are shown in whole dollars.
Public Prudential Disclosures
As an Approved Deposit-taking Institution (“ADI”) regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (“APRA”), the Credit Union is
required to publicly disclose certain information in respect of:
❙	Equity and regulatory capital,
❙	Risk exposure and assessment, and
❙	Remuneration disclosures.
These disclosures are to be found on the Credit Union’s website; www.communityfirst.com.au/support/important-information/prudentialdisclosures
Acknowledgments
On behalf of the Directors, please allow us to thank everyone who has contributed to our success this year: our members, staff,
representatives and business partners.

Dated at Sydney, NSW this 29th day of August 2019
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Lowndes				
Acting Chair					
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Mr Kenneth Pickering
Chair of the Board Audit and Risk Committees

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2018

2019

$‘000

Note

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Interest income

5

39,616

38,300

Interest expense

5

(15,557)

(16,485)

Net interest income

5

24,059

21,815

Impairment losses on loans and advances

6

(400)

(400)

Non-interest income

7

6,609

7,020

Other expenses

8

(28,835)

(25,503)

1,433

2,932

(230)

(731)

1,203

2,201

292

-

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

9

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Unrealised revaluations net of tax:
Financial assets at FVOCI gains/(losses) during the year
Total amount recognised directly in equity
Total comprehensive income for the year

24

292
1,495

2,201

1,495

2,201

Attributable to :
Members of the Credit Union

The Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements
commencing on page 37.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
Note

Capital
$’000

Retained
Earnings
$’000

Business
Combination
Reserve
$’000

Credit
Loss
Reserve
$’000

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve
$’000

Total
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Opening balance at 1 July 2017

408

67,214

6,985

2,031

4,531

81,169

-

2,201

-

-

-

2,201

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Transfer of share redemption

8

(8)

-

-

-

-

35

-

5,017

421

-

5,473

Closing balance at 30 June 2018

451

69,407

12,002

2,452

4,531

88,843

Balance at 30 June 2018

451

69,407

12,002

2,452

4,531

88,843

-

2,472

-

-

-

2,472

451

71,879

12,002

2,452

4,531

91,315

-

1,203

-

-

-

1,203

Attributable to business combinations

Change on initial application of AASB 9

3

Restated balance at 1 July 2018
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transfer of share redemption
Closing balance at 30 June 2019

24

-

-

-

-

292

292

11

(11)

-

-

-

-

462

73,071

12,002

2,452

4,823

92,810

The Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on
page 37.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
2018

2019

$‘000

Note

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

ASSETS
Cash assets

10

11,931

3,520

Receivables due from other financial institutions

11

182,482

228,358

Loans and advances

12

876,834

811,952

Other investments

14

-

5,384

Financial assets at FVOCI

14

9,332

-

Intangible assets

15

809

681

Accrued receivables

16

3,710

3,457

Property, plant and equipment

17

12,400

12,021

Deferred tax assets

18

-

905

1,097,498

1,066,278

19

994,652

966,072

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Deposits
Payables

20

6,264

6,731

Interest bearing liabilities

21

-

660

Deferred tax liability

18

392

-

Provisions

22

3,380

3,972

1,004,688

977,435

92,810

88,843

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

MEMBERS' EQUITY
Redeemable preference shares capital account

23

462

451

Reserves

24

19,277

18,985

Retained earnings

25

73,071

69,407

92,810

88,843

Total Members' Equity

The Statements of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 37.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
2018

2019

$‘000

Note

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Interest received

40,199

Dividend received

37,660

468

575

5,773

6,441

Interest paid

(15,876)

(15,728)

Payments to suppliers and employees

(24,546)

(25,786)

Non-interest income received

Income tax (paid)
Net Increase in deposits
Net (increase) in members' loans
Net cash provided by operating activities

26 (b)

(506)

(457)

28,581

42,673

(65,282)

(1,511)

(31,189)

43,867

169

109

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Transfer of business net of cash acquired

-

1,518

Net decrease/(increase) in investments

41,928

(48,086)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(1,322)

(547)

(515)

(558)

40,260

(47,564)

Proceeds/(repayments) from borrowings

(660)

660

Net cash used in investing activities

(660)

660

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

8,411

(3,037)

Cash at beginning of the financial year

3,520

6,557

11,931

3,520

Purchase of Intangible Assets
Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash at the end of the financial year

26 (a)

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 37.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.	REPORTING ENTITY

21.	STANDBY BORROWING FACILITIES

2.	BASIS OF PREPARATION

22.	OTHER PROVISIONS

3.	STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

23.	REDEEMED PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL
ACCOUNT

4.	FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
5.	INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE
6.	IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS AND
ADVANCES
7.	NON INTEREST INCOME
8.	OTHER EXPENSES
9.	INCOME TAX EXPENSE

24.	RESERVES
25.	RETAINED EARNINGS
26.	NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
27.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE
28.	COMMITMENTS

10.	CASH ASSETS
29.	CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
11.	RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS
12.	LOANS AND ADVANCES
13.	IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
14.	OTHER INVESTMENTS
15.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS
16.	ACCRUED RECEIVABLES

30.	CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
31.	KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
DISCLOSURES
32.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
33.	ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
34.	EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

17.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
18.	RECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS &
LIABILITIES (NET)
19.	DEPOSITS
20.	PAYABLES

35.	SECURITISATION
36.	RECEIVABLES ACQUISTION AND SERVICING
AGREEMENT
37.	EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. REPORTING ENTITY
Community First Credit Union Limited (the ‘Credit Union’) is a company domiciled in Australia. The financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2019 comprise the Credit Union and its controlled entities (together referred to as the “Consolidated Entity”). The
address of the Credit Union’s registered office is Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn. The Credit Union is a for-profit entity and
primarily involved in the provision of financial products, services and associated activities to members.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union comply with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
This is the first set of the annual financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union in which AASB 9 Financial
Instruments and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers have been applied. Changes to significant accounting policies
are described in note 3.2.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29th of August 2019.
The accounting policies set out below, other than those described in Note 3.2, have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements and have been applied consistently by the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union.
(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union have been prepared on a historical cost basis except
for the following material items: financial assets at FVOCI (Note 14), and land and buildings as indicated in (Note 17). Loans and
advances, receivables due from other financial institutions and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost.
(c) Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectation of future events, that affect the application of
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements is included in the following note:
❙ Note 13 – Impairment of Loans and Advances
❙ Note 14 – Other Investments
❙ Note 17 – Land and buildings
❙ Note 29 – Contingent liabilities
(d) Rounding and Presentation Currency
The Consolidated Entity and Credit Union have applied the relief available to it under ASIC corporations (Rounding in Financial/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and accordingly, amounts in the financial statements and directors’ report is presented in
Australian dollars and all values are rounded off to the nearest A$1,000, or in certain cases, the nearest Australian dollar.
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3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union have consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in
these financial statements.
3.1 Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. The Credit Union controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which control ceases.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated.
The consolidated financial statements include those of the Credit Union and a Special Purpose Entity (the easystreet Trust
No. 1 securitisation trust) which relates to the issuance of residential mortgaged-backed securities (RMBS). RMBS are issued
by the securitisation trust and held by the Credit Union for entering into a potential repurchase agreement with the Reserve
Bank of Australia for short term funding requirements. The securitisation trust is consolidated, as the Credit Union has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Since the Credit Union has
not transferred all the risks and rewards to the special purpose entity, the assigned loans are retained on the books of the
Credit Union and are not de-recognised. The securitisation trust’s underlying assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash
flows are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial
Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows. All inter-company transactions and balances have
been eliminated on consolidation including any unrealised profit.
The Credit Union has elected to present both the credit union as an individual entity and as a consolidated entity on the basis
that the impact of consolidation is not material to the entity. This applies to all other information unless otherwise stated.
(b) Income and Expense Recognition
Revenues
Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST)
payable to the Australian Tax Office (ATO). Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash
consideration are not recognised as revenues.
Sale of Non-current Assets
Revenue from the disposal of assets is recognised when title passes from the Consolidated Entity to the purchaser. The gain
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net
proceeds on disposal.
Dividends
Dividend income is recognised on the date the Consolidated Entity’s right to receive payment is established.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset (or,
where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset. When calculating the effective interest
rate, the Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments. For
financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. If the asset is no longer impaired, then the calculation of interest
income reverts to the gross basis.
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Retail banking Fees
Retail banking fees charged for provided ongoing services are recognised as performance obligations are satisfied.
Loan Origination Fees
Fee income earned or expenses incurred which are associated with the origination of loans and advances are deferred and
are recognised as and when the service is provided and the performance obligation in respect of this income is considered to
be met. This is typically over the life of the loan and form part of the amortised cost of the asset and are brought to account as
income over the expected life of the loan. The amounts brought to account are included as part of interest revenue.
Rental Income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.
Other Revenue
Other fee, commission income includes fees earned on a range of products and service platforms and is brought to
account on an accurals basis over the period that they cover once a right to receive consideration has been attained and
the performance obligation respect of this income has been met. Other fee and commissions include wealth management
commissions, insurance commissions, ATM fees, card fees and transaction fees.
Interest Expense
Interest expense is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial liability (or, where
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the
Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments.
Transaction Costs
Transaction costs are expenses which are direct and incremental to the establishment of the loan. These costs are initially
deferred as part of the loan balance, and are brought to account as a reduction to income over the expected life of the loan.
Income Tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in
the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity, or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be recognised.
3.2 Changes to accounting policies
(a) AASB 9 Financial Instruments
As at 1st July 2018 the Consolidated Entity has retrospectively applied the classification, measurement and impairment
requirements of AASB 9 Financial Instruments by adjusting the opening balance sheet and opening equity at 1st July 2018.
The Credit Union has elected not to restate comparative periods of year ended 30 June 2018 as permitted by AASB 9.
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(i)

Impact of adoption
Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of AASB 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
detailed below:
❙	Comparative periods have not been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities resulting from the adoption of AASB 9 are recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 July 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for the financial year 30 June 2018 does not reflect the requirements of AASB 9
and therefore is not comparable to the information presented for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 under AASB 9.
❙	The following assessment has been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial
application:
- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held;
The following table reconciles the carrying amounts under AASB 139 to the carrying amount under AASB 9 on transition
to AASB 9 on 1 July 2018:
Reconciliation of carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application
of AASB 9
Carrying amount
as at 30 June 2018
$’000

Reclassification
for AASB 9
$’000

Re-measurement
for AASB 9
$’000

Revised
presentation
as at 1 July 2018
$’000

3,520

-

-

3,520

228,358

-

-

228,358

5,384

(5,384)

-

-

5,384

3,531

8,915

ASSETS
Cash assets
Receivables due from other
financial institutions
Other Financial assets
Financial assets at FVOCI
Accrued Receivables

3,457

Loans and advances

811,952

-

-

811,952

1,052,671

-

3,531

1,056,202

Total financial assets

3,457

LIABILITIES
Deposits

966,072

-

-

966,072

Payables

6,731

-

-

6,731

Interest Bearing Liabilities
Provisions
Total financial liabilities

660

-

-

660

3,972

-

-

3,972

977,435

-

-

977,435

The Credit Union’s Accounting Policies on the classification of financial instruments under AASB 9 are set out in note 3.2
(a.ii).
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Classification and Measurement
The following table shows the original measurement categories in accordance with AASB 139 and the new measurement
categories under AASB 9 for the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities as at 1 July 2018.
Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application of
AASB 9 as at 1 July 2018
Original
measurement
under AASB 139

Original carrying
amount under
AASB 139
$,000

New carrying
amount under
AASB 9 *
$,000

New
measurement
under AASB 9

Note
Cash assets

10

Amortised cost

3,520

3,520

Amortised cost

Receivables due from other
financial institutions

11

Amortised cost

228,358

228,358

Amortised cost

Loans and advances

12

Amortised cost

811,952

811,952

Amortised cost

Other investments

14

Historical cost

5,384

-

-

Financial assets at FVOCI

14

-

-

8,915

FVOCI

Accrued Receivables

16

Amortised cost

3,457

3,457

Amortised cost

1,052,671

1,056,202

Total
Deposits

19

Amortised cost

966,072

966,072

Amortised cost

Payables

20

Amortised cost

6,731

6,731

Amortised cost

Interest Bearing Liabilities

21

Amortised cost

660

660

Amortised cost

973,463

973,463

Total
Impairment

As a result of the new AASB 9 impairment requirements, the loan loss provisions resulted in a change of classification of
ECL stages within the provision but no material change in the total loan loss provision.
The following table reconciles:
❙ The closing impairment allowance for loans and advances as at 30 June 2018
❙ The opening expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance determined in accordance with AASB 9 as at 1 July 2018.
As at 30 June 2018
AASB 139
$’000

Re-measurement
$’000

1 July 2018
AASB 9
$’000

Loans and advances

811,952

-

811,952

Total

811,952

-

811,952

The split of the ECL to different stages of the Credit Unions loan and advances portfolio is detailed in the table below:
AASB 9 transition impact of loan loss provision at 1 July 2018

AASB 139
Loan Loss Provision (LLP)
Collective allowance for credit losses
Specific provisions
N/A

AASB 9 ECL
Impairment stages

AASB 9 ECL
remeasurement &
reclassification
$’000

AASB 9
ECL
$’000

1,412

-

(1,412)

-

19

-

(19)

-

Stage 1 – 12 month ECL

776

776

-

N/A

-

Stage 2 Lifetime ECL

556

556

N/A

-

Stage 3 Lifetime ECL

99

99

-

1,431

Total
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(ii)

Accounting policies implemented
The following accounting policies have been implemented as at 1 July 2018 under AASB 9 Financial Instruments. Due to
the transition method chosen by the Consolidated Entity in applying AASB 9, comparative information throughout these
financial statements has not generally been restated to reflect its requirements.
The effect of applying the new standard is mainly attributed to the following:
❙ Measurement and classification of financial instruments.
❙ Provision for Impairment losses.
❙ Additional disclosures related to AASB 9.
AASB 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities and some
contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
The Consolidated entity recognises a financial asset or liability in its balance sheet when the Consolidated Entity becomes
a party to the contractual provision of the instrument. For loans, advances and deposits this is usually on the date on
which they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognised on the trade date which the entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Consolidated Entity neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.
Financial assets
General classification framework and initial measurement
AASB 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). AASB 9 classification is
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. The
standard eliminates the previous AASB 139 categories of held-to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.
From 1 July 2018 the Credit Union classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
❙ those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI); and
❙ those to be measured at amortised cost.
At initial recognition, the Consolidated Entity measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed on the income statement.
The classification is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows at initial recognition.
Business Models
Business models are classified as either: hold to collect, hold to sell or other depending on how a portfolio of financial
instruments as a whole is managed. The Consolidated Entity business models are based on the existing management
structure of the Credit Union, and refined base on an analysis of specific portfolio risks and on historic and expected
future sales.
Sales are permissible in a hold to collect business model when these are due to an increase in credit risk, take place
close to the maturity date, are insignificant in value (both individually and in aggregate) or are infrequent.
The Credit Union makes an assessment of the objectives of a business model in which an assets is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The
information considered includes:
❙	The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile,
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;
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❙	How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Consolidated Entity’s management;
❙	The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model)
and its strategy for how those risks are managed;
❙	How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and
❙	The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall
assessment of how the Consolidated Entity stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how
cash flows are realised.
The Credit Union does not currently hold financial assets held for trading. Financial assets that are held for trading or
managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL as they do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI.
Contractual cash flow characteristics
The contractual cash flows of a financial asset are assessed to determine whether the instrument gives rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). Principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition. Interest includes consideration for time value of money, credit risk and also consideration for liquidity risk and
cost associated with holding the financial assets for a particular period of time. In addition interest can include a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending agreement.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Consolidated Entity considers the contractual terms of
the instruments. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the
timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the
Consolidated Entity considers:
❙ Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
❙ Leverage features;
❙ Prepayment and extension terms;
❙ Terms that limit the Consolidated Entity claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and
❙ Features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).
There are currently two measurement categories into which the Credit Union currently classifies its debt and equity
instruments:
❙	
Amortised cost – Instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows under a hold to collect business
model where those cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in the income statement. Impairment losses are presented as line item in the income statement.
❙	
FVOCI - Before the adoption of AASB 9 certain equity investments held by the Consolidated Entity were measured at
cost because their fair value was not considered to be reliably measured. AASB 9 has removed this cost exception. On
initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading the entity may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value in OCI. This is election is made on an investment by investment basis. Once this election is made the
gains and losses cannot subsequently be recycled through profit and loss once the investment is sold.
The Consolidated Entity reclassifies debt investments when, and only when, its business model for managing those asset
changes.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost unless the Consolidated Entity is required
to measure its liabilities at FVTPL.
Impairment of financial assets
AASB 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in AASB 139 with and ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. An ECL model
is applied to on-balance sheet financial assets accounted for at amortised cost such as loans and lease receivables
as well as some off balance sheet items such as undrawn loan commitments and undrawn committed revolving credit
facilities. Under the ECL model the Consolidated Entity calculates the allowance for credit losses (loan loss provision) by
considering on a discounted basis the cash shortfalls possibly incurred in default scenarios for prescribed future periods
against the probability of occurrence. The loan loss provision (LLP) is the sum of these weighted outcomes. The LLP
is calculated using unbiased and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The Credit Union uses a general approach to ECL models for loans and a simplified approach for
lease receivables and receivables from other institutions.
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An ECL assessment is also undertaken over receivables from other financial institutions using an external rating
investment grades based approach. The ECL as at 30 June 2019 was immaterial on these investments.
General - three stage approach for Loans and Advances
Financial assets are classified in any of the three stages at a monthly reporting date. Financial assets can move between
stages during their lifetime. The stages are based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition and defined as
follows:
❙ Stage 1: 12 month ECL
	Financial assets that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Assets are classified as
stage 1 upon initial recognition and a provision of ECL associated with the probability of default events occurring within
the next 12 months.
❙ Stage 2: Lifetime ECL not credit impaired
	Financial assets showing a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. A provision is made for the life time
ECL representing losses over the life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL); or
❙ Stage 3: Lifetime ECL credit Impaired
	Financial instruments that move into Stage 3 once credit impaired require a life time provision.
Significant increase in credit risk
A financial asset moves from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when there is indication of a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The credit risk framework incorporates qualitative and quantitative information to identify significant increase
in credit risk which will trigger movement between the stages on an individual and/or collective basis. The Consolidated
Entity assesses for significant increases in credit risk using:
❙ Lifetime probability of default of portfolio segment;
❙ Watch list status;
❙ Arrears; and
❙ More than 30 days past due backstop for Stage 1 and Stage 2 transfers.
Macroeconomic scenarios
The Consolidated Entity has established a process to apply the consensus forecast for economic variables such
as unemployment rates, GDP growth, house prices and official cash rate to the ECL calculation. The model allows
adjustment of the weighting between three scenarios to produce an unbiased result of: the baseline scenario and
alternative, up and down scenarios. The scenario settings allow for forward looking adjustments according with regard to
key economic indicators, market forecasts, applied judgement and executive management outlook. Senior management
regularly review and monitor prescribed targets of acceptable ranges of key economic factors and apply judgement.
Measurement of ECL
The Consolidated Entity uses an internal expected credit loss model utilising past experience of credit deterioration,
incurred losses, objective evidence and forward looking estimates and judgements to calculate the expected credit loss.
The models calculates the: expected probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD)
used for ECL to provide forward looking point in time estimates based on macroeconomic prediction and a 12 month or
life time view of credit risk.
The Consolidated Entity model applies the PD X EAD X LGD approach incorporating the time value of money to
measure ECL. A forward looking approach on a 12 month horizon is applied for Stage 1 assets. The expected loss is the
discounted sum of the 12 month expected credit losses. For stage 2 assets a lifetime view on the credit is applied. The
lifetime expected loss is the discounted sum of the portion of lifetime losses related to default events within the window
of the expected lifetime of each portfolio. For stage 3 assets the PD equals 100 percent and LGD and EAD represent the
lifetime view of the losses based on characteristics of defaulted facilities.
Model inputs
The Consolidated Entity models the ECL for on balance sheet loan commitments measured at amortised cost as well as
off balance sheet items such as undrawn loan commitments and undrawn lines of credit. Each portfolio is segmented
into representative groupings which are typically based on shared risk characteristics.
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The key model inputs used in measuring the ECL include:
❙	
Exposure at default (EAD): The EAD represents the estimated exposure in the event of a default. The EAD is
estimated taking into consideration a range of possible exposures including both repayments and future drawdowns of
unutilised commitments up to when the exposure is expected to default.
❙	
Probability of default (PD): The calculation of PD is generally performed at a facility level segmented based on
product type and shared characteristics that are highly correlated to credit risk. PDs are a function of transition
matrices used to determine a point in time PD estimate.
❙	
Loss given default (LGD): The LGD associated with PD used is the magnitude of the ECL in a default event. The
LGD is estimated using historical loss rates considering relevant factors for individual exposures or portfolios. These
factors include collateral, recovery cost, and the structure of the facility.
Definition of default
The Consolidated Entity uses the definition of default used for in the Consolidated Entity’s internal credit risk management
framework and has aligned the definition of credit impaired under AASB 9 stage 3 with the definition of default for
prudential purposes. Default is generally defined as the point in time when the borrower is unlikely to meet its credit
obligations in full, without recourse by the Consolidated Entity to take realisation of collateral; or the borrower is 90 days
or more past due.
The Consolidated Entity periodically assesses exposures to determine whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk, which may be evidenced by either qualitative or quantitative factors. Qualitative factors include, but are not
limited to, whether an exposure has been identified and place on credit watch list reports. Where there is a deteriorating
credit risk profile, the exposures are monitored on a monthly basis through management reporting and credit watch lists
reports. All exposures on credit watch lists are classified as stage 2 or if defaulted as stage 3.
Credit Impaired financial assets stage 3
Financial assets are assessed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment at each reporting date. Evidence of credit impairment may include indications that the borrower is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, a breach of contract, bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
An asset that is in stage 3 will move back to stage 2 when it is no longer considered credit impaired. The asset will move
back to stage 1 when its credit risk at the reporting date is no longer considered to have increased significantly from initial
recognition.
When an asset identified as credit impaired, expected losses are measured as the difference between the assets gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the instruments effective interest
rate. For impaired financial assets drawn and undrawn components, expected credit loss also reflect any credit losses
related to the portfolio of the loan commitment that is expect to be drawn down over the remaining life of the instrument.
When a financial asset is credit impaired, interest ceases to be recognised on the regular accrual basis, which accrues
income based on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Rather, interest income is calculated by applying the original
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset, which is the gross carrying amount less the related loan loss
provision. The best estimate of a loan loss is calculated using the weighted average of the shortfall gross carrying amount
minus discounted expected future cash flow. Cash flows from collateral are included in the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the related financial asset. The estimation of future cash flows are subject to significant estimation,
uncertainty and assumptions.
The loans loss provision for credit impaired loans in stage 3 is at the individual level, with losses that relate to identified
individual impaired loans.
Write off and debt forgiveness
Loans and related ECL are written off, either partly or full from time to time as determined by management and approved
by the Chief Executive Officer when it is reasonable to expect that the recovery of the debt is unlikely. Bad debts are
written off against the provision for impairment.
Presentation of impairment
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.
Significant estimates and judgements - Impairment of financial assets
Considerable judgement is exercised in determining the extent of the loan loss provision for financial assets assessed for
impairment both individually and collectively and based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
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The Credit Union uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting inputs to the impairment calculation, based
on the Credit Union’s past history, experience, existing market conditions, and forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. The key judgement areas are the assumptions used to measure expected credit losses, including
the use of forward looking and macroeconomic information for both individual and collective assessment of impairment.
The scenarios and associated probabilities are ultimately approved by executive management.
The following criteria and definitions are applied for impairment:
❙ The criteria for identifying a significant increase in credit risk
	When determining whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly, the Consolidated Entity
considers reasonable and supportable information available to compare the risk of default occurring at the quarterly
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition of the final asset. Significant judgement is
required to determine the criteria for a significant increase in credit risk
❙ The definition of default
	Judgement is exercised in management’s evaluation of whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
an asset has been incurred. Significant judgment is required in assessing evidence of credit impairment and estimation
of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining expected credit losses.
❙ Forward looking estimates
	Judgement is applied in the application of forward looking and macroeconomic information. The use of different
assumptions and outlook can produce significantly different estimates of expected credit loss. Judgment is used to
apply key economic data and general market outlook with internal forecasts and risks.
(b) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 15 became effective as of 1 January 2018 replacing all existing revenue requirements in Australian Accounting
Standards. The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine when revenue is recognised and at what amount
a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is applied. The adoption of AASB 15 had
no significant impact on the Credit Union results or financial position.
(i)

Fees and commissions
Commissions earned by the Credit Union relate to the entity acting in the capacity of an agent for certain transactions.
Under AASB 15, the assessment will be based on whether the entity controls specific goods before transferring to the
end customer, rather than whether it has exposure to significant risk and rewards associated with the sale of goods.
Fees include upfront loans fees and transactional fee income which are recognised as and when the service is provided
and performance obligations are satisfied. In the case of loans fees the performance obligation is satisfied over the life of
the loan while transactions fee is at a point in time in which the transaction takes place.

3.3 Other Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash equivalents for the
purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
(b) Due from other financial institutions
If the Consolidated Entity has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are
classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs on the trade date, which is the date that the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to provision of the
instruments. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. The Consolidated Entity’s investments in interest bearing deposits such
as receivables due from other financial institutions are classified as held-to-maturity.
(c) Loans and Advances to Members
All loans are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and inclusive of loan origination fees on the date
that they are originated. Loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the
loan using the effective interest method.
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Loans are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the loans expire or if the
Consolidated Entity transfers the loan to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the
loan.
(d) Equity Investments
Investments in shares are classified and measured as FVOCI under AASB 9. Before the adoption of AASB 9 these securities
were measured at cost because their fair value was not considered to be reliably measurable. AASB 9 has removed this cost
exception. Shares are now fair valued using the most recent and relevant market information available to management. Fair
value gains and losses are recognised through OCI and cannot be recycled through profit upon disposal. Dividend income is
recognised through profit and loss.
(e) Intangible Assets
Computer software not integral to the hardware is classified as an intangible asset and stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Computer software is amortised over the expected useful life of the software. The lives
of these assets range from 2 to 5 years. Impairment is assessed on an annual basis. Amortisation charges are recognised in
other expenses.
(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment (except land and buildings) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Land and buildings are revalued and stated at fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
The Consolidated Entity recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing
part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will
flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the profit or
loss as an expense as incurred.
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income / other
expenses in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred
to retained earnings. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss.
The Consolidated Entity depreciates all assets on a straight line basis so that the cost or valuation of each asset is written off
over its expected useful life.
The estimated useful lives of the Consolidated Entity’s assets are outlined below.

2019

2018

40 years

40 years

Leasehold Improvements

3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

Plant and Equipment

3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

Buildings

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to assets are reassessed at least annually.
(g) Recoverable Amount of Non-current Assets
Non-current assets are recorded at values not exceeding their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is determined
as the net amount expected to be received through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and
subsequent disposal of a non-current asset.
Classes of non-current assets measured at fair value are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount
of each asset in the class does not differ materially from fair value at reporting date. Independent valuations are obtained
at intervals of no more than three years. Revaluation increments, on a class of assets basis, are recognised in the asset
revaluation reserve within comprehensive income. Revaluation increments reversing a decrement previously recognised as
an expense are recognised as revenue. Revaluation decrements are only offset against revaluation increments relating to the
same class of asset and any excess is recognised as an expense.
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(h) Members’ Deposits
Member savings and term investments are recognised initially recognised at the fair value and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using he effective interest rate method. The amount of interest accrued at balance date is shown as part of
payables.
(i)

Redeemable Preference Shares
The Credit Union issues redeemable preference shares to each Member upon joining in accordance with the Constitution of
the Credit Union. These shares are redeemed for their face value of $2.00 each on leaving the Credit Union. A member share
must confer the right to 1 vote, and only 1 vote, at meetings of the Credit Union’s members. No dividend is payable in respect
of any member share.
On winding-up of the Credit Union the holder of a member share is entitled:

(j)

(a)

to payment of the subscription price for the member share when the member subscribed for the member share; and

(b)

if any assets remain after the payments in paragraph (a) – to any surplus assets of the Credit Union.

Payables
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received.

(k) Interest Bearing Liabilities
All interest bearing liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. These are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the interest bearing liability using the effective interest method.
Interest bearing liabilities are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract expires, are
discharged or cancelled.
(l)

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities
Provisions for employee entitlements
The provision for long service leave is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made resulting
from employees’ service up to reporting date, and having regard to the probability that employees, as a group, will remain
employed for the period of time necessary to qualify for long service leave.
Provisions for annual leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ service calculated on undiscounted
amounts based on remuneration, wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date.
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the profit or loss in the periods during which services
are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in
future payments is available.
Other Provisions and Contingent Liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The
amount recognised as a provision is the expected consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation and those cash flows are discounted to the present
value where appropriate.
Contingent liabilities are recognised when it is probable or possible that a present obligation exists but the amount of the
obligation cannot be estimated reliably.
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(m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
As a financial institution the Credit Union is input taxed on all income except other income from commissions and some fees.
An input taxed supply is not subject to GST collection, and similarly the GST paid on purchases cannot be recovered. As
some income is charged GST, the GST on purchases are generally recovered on a proportionate basis. In addition certain
prescribed purchases are subject to Reduced Input Tax Credits, of which 75% of the GST paid is recoverable.
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included where applicable GST is collected.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or current liability in the
Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(n) Leased Assets
Leases under which the Consolidated Entity assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. The Consolidated Entity currently does not have any finance
leases. Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.
3.4 New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July
2019, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Consolidated Entity
and the assessment of impact of these new standards and interpretations are set out below.
The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union do not plan to adopt these standards early.
AASB 16 Leases
Nature of change
AASB 16 replaces the previous leases standard, IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 17”), and related interpretations. IFRS 16 requires most
leases, including operating leases, to be recorded on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets, resulting in an increase in lease
assets and corresponding lease liabilities.
Lessor accounting remains substantially unchanged.
The standard permits a lessee to choose either a full retrospective or modified retrospective transition approach. Furthermore the
standard provides some practical expedients and exemptions to the costs of transition. The Credit Union has elected the modified
retrospective approach and will make use of several practical expedients and exemptions.
Impact
The Credit union will adopt AASB 16 on 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore, the Credit Union does
not plan to restate prior period comparative figures and will recognise an adjustment to opening retained earnings to reflect the
application of the new requirements as at the date of transition.
The Credit Union expects the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 to result in the recognition of lease assets of approximately
$2.5m and financial liabilities of $2.7m on its consolidated financial statements and regulatory capital ratios.
The actual impacts of adopting the standard may change because:
❙	the Credit Union has not finalised the testing and assessment of the contract register; and
❙	the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Credit union presents its first financial statements that include the
date of initial application.
Date of application
AASB 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
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AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Nature of change
The IFRS Interpretations Committee has issued IFRIC 23, which clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of
IAS 12 Income taxes are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments
Impact
❙	The Credit Union is assessing existing model to account for tax uncertainties against the specific guidance in the interpretation
and is considering the impact on tax accounting.
Date of application
AASB Interpretation 23 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Introduction and Overview
The Consolidated Entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
❙ credit risk
❙ liquidity risk
❙ market risks
❙ operational risks
❙ capital management
This note presents information about the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and their management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board
has established the Board Audit and Board Risk Committees (BAC and BRC) to oversee the financial reporting and audit and risk
management processes. These Committees comprise of up to four Directors, none of whom is the Chairman of the Board.
The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the entity, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Consolidated Entity, through its training and management
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand
their roles and obligations.
The Board Audit and Board Risk Committee’s major activities are to:
❙	monitor corporate risk assessment and the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls and policies;
❙	monitor audit reports received from internal and external auditors, and management responses thereto;
❙	liaise with the auditors (internal and external) on the scope of their work, and experience in conducting an effective audit;
❙	ensure that external auditors remain independent in the areas of work conducted;
❙	oversee compliance with statutory responsibilities relating to financial disclosure and management information reporting to the
Board; and
❙	assist the Board in the engagement, performance assessment and remuneration of the auditors.
(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a Member or Counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the loans and advances to members, liquid investments and investment
securities.
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Management of Credit Risk – Loans and Advances
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Credit Services Department in respect
of loans and advances. The Credit Services Department is responsible for oversight of the credit risk, including:
❙	Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and
legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.
❙	Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Authorisation limits are allocated to Credit
Officers. Credit facilities exceeding $1.5 million require approval by the Credit Sub Committee comprising of two Executives and
the Head of Credit Services. The Credit Sub Committee in turn makes recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer for the
final approval. Any delegation used within policy is tabled to the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) for approval.
❙	Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The Credit Services Department assesses all credit exposures in excess of designated
limits, prior to facilities being committed to members concerned. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same
review process.
❙	Review, approval and assessment process for measuring ECL.
❙	Limit concentrations of exposure to counterparties.
❙	Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits. Regular reports are provided to the Credit Services Department on the credit
quality of loans and appropriate corrective action is taken.
Management of Credit Risk – Liquid Investments
The risk of losses from liquid investments undertaken is reduced by the nature and quality of the independent rating of the
counterparty, and the limits of concentration of investments to any counterparty. A limit is also set for each counterparty based on
a credit rating assigned by an independent rating agency with the exception of other Mutual ADIs which are considered separately
within the policy.
Management of Credit Risk – Investment Securities
In respect of investment securities, any investment activity undertaken requires Board approval on a case by case basis. The
Consolidated Entity will make equity investments in companies or joint ventures only where the investment is deemed necessary by
the Board of Directors and is related to the provision of products or services to Community First or its members. The Consolidated
Entity will obtain APRA’s approval before committing to any exposure to entities in excess of prescribed limits.
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Exposure to Credit Risk – Loans and Advances to Members

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

879,060

814,368

30 days & less than 60 days

155

100

60 days & less than 90 days

106

112

90 days & less than 182 days

152

331

182 days & less than 273 days

32

-

Gross amount
Collectively impaired

273 days & less than 365 days

58

-

503

543

Less than 14 days

31

35

14 days & less than 90 days

85

178

90 days & less than 182 days

53

79

Gross amount
Overdrawn/Overlimit

182 days & over

49

19

218

311

30 days & less than 60 days

611

604

60 days & less than 90 days

399

470

90 days & less than 182 days

592

556

182 days to 273 days

147

-

273 days to 365 days

-

-

365 days & over

-

-

1,749

1,630

876,590

811,884

(1,431)

(1,431)

Gross amount
Past due but not impaired *
*Category 1 – Adequately secured mortgage loans

Gross amount
Neither past due nor impaired
Loans and advances
Allowance for impairment
Deferred loan fees and expenses
Unearned income
Total carrying amount
Includes accounts with renegotiated terms

(89)

(277)

(706)

(708)

876,834

811,952

2,825

1,320
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Impaired Loans
Impaired loans are loans for which the Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity determines that it is probable that it will be unable
to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan.
Loans with Renegotiated Terms
Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position and
where the Consolidated Entity has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it remains
in this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring.
Allowances for Impairment
Under the ECL model the Consolidated Entity calculates the allowance for Bad debts are written off from time to time as
determined by management and approved by the Chief Executive Officer when it is reasonable to expect that the recovery of the
debt is unlikely. Bad debts are written off against the provision for impairment, if a provision for impairment had previously been
recognised. If no provision had been recognised, the write-offs are recognised as expense in the profit and loss.
Write-off Policy
The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity writes off a loan when the Credit Services Department determines that a loan is
uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the
borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be
sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity holds collateral against loans and advances to members in the form of mortgage
interests over property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value
of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a loan is individually assessed as
impaired.
An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against past due but not impaired and individually
impaired financial assets are shown below:
Loans and Advances to Members

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Past due but not impaired

1,740

1,630

Collateral - Property

2,995

3,070

It is the Consolidated Entity’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce
or repay the outstanding claim. The Consolidated Entity does not use or take repossessed properties for business use. During the
year ended 30 June 2019, the Consolidated Entity took possession of $140,000 (30 June 2018: $962,821).
The Consolidated Entity monitors concentration of credit risk by purpose. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the
reporting date is shown below:

2019

Residential loans*
Personal loans
Commercial loans
Revolving Credit
Credit Cards
Total gross loans

2018

$‘000

$‘000

801,499

739,493

40,846

36,743

2,841

2,598

7,937

8,597

25,937

26,937

879,060

814,368

*Note residential loans are by purpose and may include unsecured facilities not included in the Loan to Value table below.
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The Loan to Value Ratio against eligible residential mortgages is shown below:

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

LVR 0% to 60%

404,143

391,860

LVR 60% to 80%

322,015

289,276

LVR 80% to 90%

43,551

36,826

LVR 90% to 100%

25,856

14,272

LVR

LVR > 100%
Total residential mortgages

3,964

3,802

799,529

736,036

The Consolidated Entity also monitors the investment options in the market based on the credit rating of the counterparty. An
analysis of concentrations of investment credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

AA-

37,731

30,343

A+

31,401

23,470

A

1,000

4,144

A-

44,519

44,375

BBB+

12,875

19,712

BBB

48,387

49,314

Long Term Rating
Standard & Poor’s

BBBUnrated (other mutual ADI’s)
Total

-

-

18,500

59,000

194,413

230,358

An ECL assessment is undertaken over receivables from other financial institutions exposures using an external rating investment
grades based approach. The ECL at 30 June 2019 was immaterial on these investments.
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Management of Liquidity Risk
The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damages
to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation.
Treasury receives weekly reports regarding the liquidity profile of all financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash
flows arising from projected future business. Treasury then maintains a portfolio of short term liquid assets and other short term
borrowing facilities with domestic financial institutions to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained.
The Consolidated Entity is required to maintain at least 9% of total adjusted liabilities as liquid assets capable of being converted to
cash within 48 hours under the APRA Prudential Standards. The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to apply a minimum target of 11%
of funds as liquid assets to maintain adequate funds for meeting withdrawal requests. Given the current economic conditions, the
Consolidated Entity is maintaining a minimum liquidity ratio of 12%. The liquidity position is monitored daily. Should the liquidity ratio
fall below this level, the management and Board has established a plan to address the matter as outlined in the board policy on
liquidity and funding risk management.
All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the Assets and Liability Committee, Board Risk
Committee and the full Board.
The Consolidated Entity relies on deposits from members as its primary source of funding. The short-term nature of these deposits
increases the Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk and the Consolidated Entity actively manages this risk through maintaining
competitive pricing and constant monitoring of market trends.
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As at 30 June 2019 the Consolidated Entity holds a total liquidity ratio of 17.8% (2018: 21.2%) in the form of High Quality Liquid
Assets (HQLA) 14.9% (2018: 14.1%) and non-High Quality Liquid Assets 2.9% (2018: 7.1%).
Exposure to Liquidity Risk
Details of the reported Consolidated Entity liquidity ratio at the reporting date and during the reporting period were as follows:

2019

2018

At 30 June (HQLA)

14.9%

14.1%

Average for the period

14.7%

15.3%

Maximum for the period

16.2%

16.6%

Minimum for the period

13.2%

13.5%

The Consolidated Entity’s residual contractual maturities of its financial liabilities are as follows:
Carrying
amount on
balance
sheet

Gross
nominal
(outflows)

Less than
1 month

1 to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

19

994,652

(1,000,628)

(631,627)

(86,135)

(249,816)

(33,050)

Payables

20

6,264

(6,264)

(6,264)

-

-

-

Interest bearing Liabilities

21

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,000,916

(1,006,892)

(637,891)

(86,135)

(249,816)

(33,050)

Carrying
amount on
balance
sheet

Gross
nominal
(outflows)

Less than
1 month

1 to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Note

30 JUNE 2019
Deposits

Note

30 JUNE 2018
Deposits

19

966,072

(971,368)

(621,353)

(106,505)

(210,173)

(33,337)

Payables

20

6,731

(6,731)

(6,731)

-

-

-

Interest bearing Liabilities

21

660

(660)

(660)

-

-

-

973,463

(978,759)

(628,744)

(106,505)

(210,173)

(33,337)

This table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities and unrecognised loan commitments
on the basis of their earlier possible contractual maturity. The Consolidated Entity’s expected cash flows on these instruments
vary significantly from this analysis. For example, demand deposits from members are expected to maintain a stable or increasing
balance; and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down immediately.
The gross nominal inflow/ (outflow) disclosed in the previous table represents the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to
the principal and interest on the financial liability or commitment.
(d) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices or foreign exchange rates will affect the
Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.
Management of Market Risks
The Consolidated Entity is not exposed to currency risk as the Consolidated Entity does not trade in the financial instruments it
holds on its books. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in market interest rates.
Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Finance and Risk departments are
responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and the day to day
review of their implementation.
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Exposure to Market Risks
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair
values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The main tool used to measure and control market
risk exposure within the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio is Value at Risk (VaR). The VaR of the non-trading portfolio is the
estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse market movement with
a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the Consolidated Entity is based upon a 99% confidence level
and assumes a 250-day holding period. The VaR model used is based mainly on historical simulation. Taking account of market
data from the previous two years, and observed relationships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide
range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements.
Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some
limitations, including the following:
❙	A 250-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to
be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a
prolonged period.
❙	A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there is a
one percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.
❙	1500-day observation period. The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may
not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.
❙	The VaR measure is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s position and volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged
position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.
The Consolidated Entity uses VaR limits for interest rate risk. The overall structure of VaR limits is subject to review and approval
by ALCO, BRC and the Board. VaR is measured monthly and reports utilising VaR limits are submitted to ALCO and the Board for
each meeting.
The Value at Risk as at 30 June 2019 is $2,716,427 (2018: $1,640,686).
A summary of the VaR position of the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio as at 30 June 2019 and during the period is as
follows:

2019

2018

(% of Capital)

(% of Capital)

At 30 June

3.2

2.0

Average for the period

2.2

1.2

Maximum for the period

3.2

2.0

Minimum for the period

1.8

0.9

A summary of the Consolidated Entity interest rate gap position can be seen in Note 27.
The management of interest rate risk also involves the monitoring of the sensitivity of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets
and liabilities to a parallel shift across the yield curve. An analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to 200 basis points shift in
market interest rates is as follows:

2019

2018

(% of Capital)

(% of Capital)

200 basis points increase

6.0

3.2

200 basis points decrease

(6.0)

(3.2)

At 30 June

The negative value implies that the portfolio would lose this amount as a percentage of capital, if there were a parallel shift down in
the yield curve.
(e) Operational Risks
Operational risk is a risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Consolidated Entity’s
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as
those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks
arise from all of the Consolidated Entity’s operations and are faced by all business entities.
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The Consolidated Entity’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage
to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and
creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to
management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of the overall Consolidated Entity’s
standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:
❙	Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions
❙	Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions
❙	Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements
❙	Documentation of controls and procedures
❙	Requirements for the periodical assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to address
the risks identified
❙	Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
❙	Development of contingency plans
❙	Training and professional development
❙	Ethical and business standards
❙	Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective
Compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal Audit.
The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries
submitted to the Board Risk Committee and senior management of the Consolidated Entity.
(f)

Capital Management
The Consolidated Entity is licensed as an Australian Deposit-taking Institution (‘ADI’) under the Banking Act and is subject to
prudential supervision by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (‘APRA’).
The APRA Standards include APS 110 Capital Adequacy which:
i.	requires the Consolidated Entity to have a capital buffer sufficient to absorb unanticipated losses from its activities and, in the
event of problems, to enable the Consolidated Entity to continue operating in a sound and viable manner whilst the problems
are addressed or resolved;
ii.	requires the Consolidated Entity to manage its capital by aligning its risk appetite and risk profile with its capacity to absorb
losses;
iii.	imposes on the Board of the Consolidated Entity a duty to ensure that the Consolidated Entity maintains an appropriate level
and quality of capital commensurate with the type, amount and concentration of risks to which the Consolidated Entity is
exposed from its activities; and
iv.	obliges the Consolidated Entity to have in place an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’).
The Consolidated Entity’s primary source of capital is retained earnings. The Consolidated Entity maintains its’ capital levels for the
current and future activities by conducting the ICAAP on an annual basis, and maintaining a Capital Management Plan. The plan
addresses the capital requirements prescribed by APRA, the strategy for managing capital resources over time, a capital target,
how the required capital requirements is to be met and actions and procedures for monitoring compliance with minimum capital
requirements.
During the year, the Consolidated Entity has complied in full with all its externally imposed requirements.
The Consolidated Entity regulatory capital position at 30 June was as follows:

2019

Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Total regulatory capital
Total risk weighted assets
Total capital ratio
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2018

$‘000

$‘000

80,306

79,700

3,633

3,600

83,939

83,300

556,791

539,954

15.1%

15.4%

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
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2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

5. INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest Income
Cash deposits at call
Deposits with other financial institutions

85

80

5,067

5,163

Loans and advances

34,464

33,057

Total interest revenue

39,616

38,300

15,174

15,479

375

997

Interest Expense
Member deposits
Wholesale deposits
Borrowings

8

9

Total interest expense

15,557

16,485

Net Interest Income

24,059

21,815

6. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES
Increase (Decrease) in provision for impairment

190

(80)

Bad debts written off directly against profit

210

480

400

400

468

575

7. NON INTEREST INCOME
Dividends
Fees and commissions
- loan fee income – other than loan origination fees

1,037

988

- transaction fees

1,705

1,932

- other fee income

1,029

1,030

- insurance commissions

244

428

- other commissions

933

858

- wealth management commissions

366

286

Bad debts recovered

225

305

- rental income

246

184

- ATM fees

268

406

88

28

6,609

7,020

Other revenue

- other

(a) Gain on Sale of Non-current Assets
Gross proceeds on sale of non-current asset
Less: written down value of non-current assets
Profit on sale of non-current assets

80

109

(26)

(104)

54

5
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2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

8. OTHER EXPENSES
Staff
- salaries and wages

9,704

9,015

- employee entitlements

1,365

1,178

- superannuation

1,140

1,020

628

584

- seminars and training

99

174

- recruitment

15

42

5

128

- payroll tax

- workers' compensation insurance
- other

326

25

13,282

12,166

Occupancy
- rent of store premises

1,956

2,134

- depreciation

217

228

- other

973

770

3,146

3,132

- depreciation

179

257

- amortisation of software

365

265

2,882

2,677

3,426

3,199

Computer and Equipment

- bureau services and maintenance
Other
- advertising and promotion

818

890

- communications

293

247

- proprietary ATM's

383

388

2,922

2,474

- member remote access
- affiliation, regulatory and insurance

671

573

- loans administration costs

113

145

- depreciation - furniture and office equipment

327

283

86

70

- depreciation – motor vehicles
- general administration cost
- other

(a) Auditor's Remuneration

329

254

3,039

1,682

8,981

7,006

28,835

25,503

$

$

137,327

128,883

42,840

40,800

180,167

169,683

Audit services: Auditors of the Consolidated Entity
KPMG - audit and review of financial reports
KPMG - other regulatory audit services
Other services:
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KPMG - Taxation

15,698

15,375

EY - Internal audit

143,376

140,544

159,074

155,919

339,241

325,602
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2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Current tax expense
Adjustment for prior years

117

408

-

-

Current year tax expense

117

408

Deferred tax expense

113

323

Total income tax expense

230

731

1,203

2,201

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit
Profit for the year
Total income tax expense
Profit excluding income tax
Income tax using tax rate of 27.5% (2018: 30%)
Non-deductible expenses
Franking rebate
Transitional Tax rate adjustment

The amount of non distributable franking credits held by the Consolidated Entity
after adjustment for credits arising on tax payable in the current year’s result.

230

731

1,433

2,932

394

880

3

2

(145)

(172)

(22)

21

230

731

18,825

18,005

3,431

1,520

10. CASH ASSETS
Cash on hand and at bank
Deposits at call

8,500

2,000

11,931

3,520

17,470

19,470

165,012

208,888

182,482

228,358

Not longer than 3 months

64,201

88,587

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months

58,230

79,251

Longer than 12 months

60,051

60,520

182,482

228,358

11. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Held to Maturity Investments
Deposits with Cuscal Limited
Deposits with other ADIs*

Maturity Analysis

*Includes the liquidity, expense and Interest reserve of $10,451,000 held with easy street Trust which is not immediately available for
use.
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2018

$‘000

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

12. LOANS AND ADVANCES
Overdrafts

33,895

35,542

Term loans

845,165

778,826

Gross Loans and Advances

879,060

814,368

(89)

(277)

(706)

(708)

Less: Deferred loan fees and expenses
Less: Unearned income
Less: Provision for impaired loans (Note 13)
Net Loans and Advances

(1,431)

(1,431)

876,834

811,952

167,892

81,044

49,164

49,594

4,651

5,168

Securitised Loans
The values of securitised loans which do not qualify for derecognition as the
conditions do not meet the criteria in AASB 9.
Maturity Analysis
Not longer than 3 months
Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months
Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years

32,931

27,675

792,314

731,931

879,060

814,368

Loans approved not funded

20,720

16,715

Loan facilities for members’ overdrafts, lines of credit and Visa credit limits approved
as at 30 June

82,922

85,121

(33,894)

(35,542)

49,028

49,579

Longer than 5 years

Credit Commitments

Total facilities utilised
Total facilities unutilised

13. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
Note due to the application of AASB 9 for 2019 refer to Provision for Impairment – ECL reconciliation below. 2018 has not been
restated.
Provision on impaired loans
Specific provision for impairment
Opening balance
Transfer from/ (to) collective provision
Closing balance

61
(42)
19

Collective Provision for Impairment
Opening balance
Charge to profit or loss

62

1,370
(80)

Transfer from business combination

80

Transfer from / (to) specific provision

42

Closing balance

1,412

Total provision for impaired loans

1,431

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Provision for Impairment
The table below represents the reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of ECL allowances on loan assets to which the
impairment requirements under AASB 9 are applied:

As at 30 June 2018

Stage 1
12 month
ECL
$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL
$’000

Collective
Allowance
for Credit Loss
$’000

Specific
Provision
$’000

Provision
Total
$’000

-

-

-

1,412

19

1,431

Adjustment for initial application of AASB 9

776

556

99

(1,412)

(19)

-

As at 1 July 2018

776

556

99

-

-

1,431

Changes due to financial assets that have:
Transferred to 12 months ECL collectively
assessed
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired
collectively assessed
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired
collectively assessed

40

(40)

-

-

-

-

(70)

151

(81)

-

-

-

-

(254)

254

-

-

-

New and increased provisions net of releases

(66)

171

85

-

-

190

Bad debts written off

-

-

(190)

-

-

(190)

As at 30 June 2019

680

584

167

-

-

1,431

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

14. FINANACIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
*Note 2018 have not been restated and are measured at cost. Previously classified as available for sale assets. Under AASB 9 these
shares are now recorded at fair value through OCI.
a.

Shares in Unlisted Companies
Cuscal Limited

5,431

4,002

TAS

3,901

1,382

9,332

5,384

2,893

1,924

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software
Accumulated amortisation

(2,212)

(1,567)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year

681

357

Additions

514

559

Loss on disposal

(21)

-

-

30

(365)

(265)

809

681

894

1,477

Transfer from business combination
Amortisation for current year
Carrying amount at the end of the year

16. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES*
Accrued interest
Accrued non-interest income
Debtors and prepayments
Income tax receivable

408

77

1,547

1,453

861

450

3,710

3,457

*All accrued receivables are due within 12 months.
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2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and Buildings
Land

4,400

Building

8,037

4,400
7,270

12,437

11,670

Less accumulated depreciation

(1,434)

(1,218)

Land and Buildings

11,003

10,452

Plant and Equipment
Office equipment
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

977

1,040

(866)

(896)

111

144

Furniture and Fittings
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

3,902

4,510

(3,069)

(3,531)

833

979

Data Processing Equipment
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

2,199

2,204

(1,998)

(1,862)

201

342

Motor Vehicles
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Plant and Equipment
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

421

357

(169)

(253)

252

104

1,397

1,569

12,400

12,021

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
Land and Buildings
Carrying amount at the beginning of year
Additions
Acquisitions through business combinations
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

10,452

10,194

767

27

-

541

-

(82)

(216)

(228)

11,003

10,452

Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount at the beginning of year

1,569

1,710

Additions

554

520

Disposals

(133)

(54)

Acquisitions through business combinations
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
64

-

3

(593)

(610)

1,397

1,569

12,400

12,021

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Consolidated Entity has determined that the financial statements should reflect the fair value of the investment in the land and
building. The policy of the Consolidated Entity is to revalue land and building every three years to reflect the current market value. An
independent valuation was performed by James Popovic AAPI of Colliers International Valuations at 30 June 2019. The current book
value had been determined to be a close approximation to market value.

18. RECONGISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Assets

2019

Liabilities

2018

2019

Net

2018

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

$‘000

-

-

(1,185)

-

(1,185)

-

429

429

-

-

429

429

71

75

-

-

71

75

CONSOLIDATED
Revaluation of financial assets at FVOCI
Provision for loan impairment
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

27

28

(705)

(779)

(678)

(751)

Payables

112

352

(59)

(60)

53

292

Employee benefits

918

860

-

-

918

860

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,557

1,744

(1,949)

(839)

(392)

905

Tax losses carried forward

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

19. DEPOSITS
Savings deposits

552,657

539,923

Term deposits

415,267

401,250

26,619

24,783

109

116

994,652

966,072

At call

549,189

536,463

Not longer than 3 months

167,961

190,674

Longer than 3 and not longer than 6 months

121,534

107,844

Longer than 6 and not longer than 12 months

124,601

99,259

Wholesale deposits
Member shares

Maturity Analysis

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years

31,367

31,832

994,652

966,072

Concentration of Deposits
There are no members who individually have deposits which represent 10% or more of total liabilities.
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2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

20. PAYABLES *
Sundry creditors and accruals

2,356

2,504

Accrued interest payable

3,908

4,227

6,264

6,731

10,000

10,000

-

-

10,000

10,000

6,000

6,000

-

( 660*)

6,000

5,340

16,000

16,000

*All payables are due within 12 months.

21. STANDBY AND USED BORROWING FACILITIES
Loan Facility – Secured
Gross facility
Current borrowing
Net available
Overdraft Facility – Secured
Gross facility
Current borrowing
Net available
Total Facility
Gross facility
Current borrowing
Net available

-

(660*)

16,000

15,340

*Interest bearing liabilities

Annual Leave

Long Service Leave

Other

Total

Consolidated

22. PROVISIONS
Balance at 1 July 2018

995

1,955

1,022

3,972

Provisions made during the year

974

391

(140)

1,225

(1,012)

(156)

(559)

(1,727)

-

-

(90)

(90)

957

2,190

233*

3,380

Provisions used during the year
Release of provision during the year
Balance at 30 June 2018

*Note the other provision amount outstanding as of 30 June 2019 relates to termination payment which was settled in July 2019.
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2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

23. REDEEMED PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL ACCOUNT
The redeemed preference share capital account records the dollar value of shares redeemed as at year to date.
Each share is valued at $2 per share.
Balance at the beginning of the year

451

408

-

35

Attributable to business combinations
Transfer from retained earnings on share redemption
Balance at the end of year

11

8

462

451

4,823

4,531

24. RESERVES
Asset revaluation reserve (i)
Credit loss reserve (ii)
Business combination reserve

Asset
revaluation
Reserve
$’000

Credit loss
reserve
$’000

2,452

2,452

12,002

12,002

19,277

18,985

Business
combination
reserve
$’000

Total
Reserves
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

RECONCILIATION OF RESERVES 2019
Closing Balance 30 June 2018

4,531

2,452

Adjustment for AASB 9 at 1 July 2018

-

-

Restated Balance as at 1 July 2018

4,531

2,452

12,002

18,985

292

-

-

292

4,823

2,452

12,002

19,277

FVOCI revaluation movement for the year,
net of tax
Closing Balance

12,002

18,985
-

Nature and Purpose of Reserves
i.

Asset Revaluation Reserve
The asset revaluation reserve relates to equity instruments designated at FVOCI, property, plant and equipment measured at fair
value in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards.

ii.

Credit Loss Reserve
This reserve records amounts previously set aside as a general provision and is maintained to comply with the guidance set down
by APRA.
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2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

25. RETAINED EARNINGS
Balance at the beginning of the year
Adjustment on transition to AASB 9
Restated Balance as at 1 July 2018
Profit for the year
Transfer to redeemed preference share capital account
Balance at the end of the year

69,407

67,214

2,472

-

71,879

67,214

1,203

2,201

(11)

(8)

73,071

69,407

26. NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of Cash
Cash includes cash on hand, and deposits at call with financial institutions net of outstanding overdrafts.
Cash as at balance date comprises:
Cash on hand

3,431

1,520

Deposits at Call

8,500

2,000

11,931

3,520

1,203

2,201

(b) The net cash provided by operating activities is reconciled to the net profit after tax
Net profit after tax
(Loss) / Gain on sale of fixed assets & intangibles

(15)

27

Bad debts written off

400

480

1,174

1,104

252

(483)

(65,282)

(1,170)

(504)

(481)

Depreciation & Amortisation
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Decrease / (Increase) in accrued receivables
Net (Increase) in members’ loans
Net (Increase) in sundry debtors and prepayments
Increase in financial assets at FVOCI
Decrease in deferred tax assets
Increase in deferred tax liabilities
Net Increase in deposits
(Increase) / Decrease in payables
(Decrease) in provision for doubtful debts
Increase in provisions for staff entitlements
(Decrease) in other provisions
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

3,949

-

905

266

(793)

-

28,581

42,673

(466)

115

-

(80)

196

186

(789)

(971)

(31,189)

43,867

(c) Cash Flows Presented on a Net Basis
Cash flows arising from loan advances, loans repayments, Member deposits, Member withdrawals and from sales and purchases
of maturing certificates of deposit have been presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows.

68

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE
(a) Interest Rate Risk
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial
liabilities are set out below.

Total carrying
amounts as
Nonper Statement
interest
of Financial
bearing
Position
$’000
$’000

Fixed interest rate repriced in:

Effective
interest
rate
Note
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

1 year or
less
$’000

1 to 7
years
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

2019
Financial Assets
Cash assets

10

1.33%

11,931

-

-

-

11,931

Due from other financial institutions

11

2.75%

13,231

119,651

49,600

-

182,482

Loans and advances

12

4.12%

422,833

202,570

251,431

-

876,834

Financial assets at FVOCI

14

-

-

-

-

9,332

9,332

447,995

322,221

301,031

9,332

1,080,579

549,080

414,095

31,368

109

994,652

549,080

414,095

31,368

109

994,652

Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Deposits

19

1.64%

Total Financial Liabilities

Total carrying
amounts as
Nonper Statement
interest
of Financial
bearing
Position
$’000
$’000

Fixed interest rate repriced in:

Effective
interest
rate
Note
%

Floating
interest
rate
$’000

1 year or
less
$’000

1 to 7
years
$’000

Consolidated and Credit Union

2018
Financial Assets
Cash assets

10

1.12%

3,520

-

-

-

3,520

Due from other financial institutions

11

2.56%

5,843

165,205

57,310

-

228,358

Loans and advances

12

4.22%

380,702

103,879

327,371

-

811,952

Other investments

14

-

-

-

-

5,384

5,384

390,065

269,084

384,681

5,384

1,049,214

536,346

397,777

31,833

116

966,072

Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Deposits

19

1.81%

Interest bearing liabilities

21

4.50%

Total Financial Liabilities

660

-

-

-

660

537,006

397,777

31,833

116

966,732

n/a – not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE
(b) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
i.

Financial assets and liabilities by classification

ii.

Shares are now fair valued using the most recent and relevant market information available to management.

iii.

Shares are now fair valued using the most recent and relevant market information available to management.
The following table sets out the Consolidated Entity’s classification of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values.
Total Carrying amount as per
Statement of Financial Position

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Fair Value

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

CONSOLIDATED AND CREDIT UNION
Financial Assets
Cash assets

11,931

3,520

11,931

3,520

Due from other financial institutions

182,482

228,358

183,422

229,304

Loans and advances

876,834

811,952

871,165

804,131

9,332

5,384

9,332

5,384

1,080,579

1,049,214

1,075,950

1,042,339

994,652

966,072

995,454

966,509

Other investments
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Deposits
Interest bearing liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

iv.

-

660

-

660

994,652

966,732

995,454

967,169

Fair Value Hierarchy
The following table sets out the fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities. It does not include fair value information for
financial assets and financial liabilities if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
The different levels have been defined as follows:
Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Aggregate fair value

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Level 1

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

Level 2

2019

2018

$‘000

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Level 3

$‘000

Total

CONSOLIDATED AND CREDIT UNION
Financial Assets
Due from other financial
institutions

-

-

183,422

229,304

-

-

183,422

229,304

Loans and advances

-

-

871,165

804,131

-

-

871,165

804,131

-

-

9,332

5,384

9,332

5,384

1,054,587 1,033,435

9,332

5,384

Other investments1

-

-

Total Financial Assets

-

-

1,063,919 1,038,819

Financial Liabilities
Deposits

-

-

995,454

966,509

-

-

995,454

966,509

Interest bearing liabilities

-

-

-

660

-

-

-

660

Total Financial Liabilities

-

-

995,454

967,169

-

-

995,454

967,169

1.

These are FVOCI assets in 2019 (2018:AFS assets)

2019

2018

$‘000

$‘000

5,384

5,340

Disposal of investment

-

(151)

Attributable to business combination

-

195

3,531

-

417

-

9,332

5,384

Level 3 Reconciliation
Balance at beginning of financial year

AASB 9 FVOCI on initial application at 1 July 18
Total gains and losses - FVOCI
Balance at end of the financial year
The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:
i.

Cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amount approximates fair value as they are short term in nature or are receivable on demand.

ii.

Receivables due from other Financial Institutions
The fair value for financial assets held to maturity is calculated by reference to the current investment rate that would be
obtained at balance date for investment based on the number of days remaining until maturity. Financial assets held to
maturity are carried at amortised cost as these assets are intended to be held until maturity.

iii.

Loans and Advances
The carrying value of loans and advances is net of collective and specific provisions for impairment.
For variable rate loans, excluding impaired loans, the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value.
The fair value for fixed rate loans is calculated by utilising discounted cash flow models (i.e. the net present value of the
portfolio future principal and interest cash flows), based on the maturity of the loans. The discount rates applied were based
on the current applicable rate offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio.
The fair value of impaired loans was calculated by discounting expected cash flows using a rate which includes a premium for
the uncertainty of the flows.
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iv.

Deposits from Members
The carrying amount approximates fair value for savings account balances as they are at call. The fair value of members’
term deposits are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on current market rates for term deposits having
substantially the same terms and conditions

v.

Financial assets at FVOCI
The carrying amount of financial assets at FVOCI previously designated as available for sale (AFS) consisting of shares in a
non- listed entity which are not actively traded. In the current financial year, the fair value of these assets has been estimated
taking into consideration recently transacted prices for the shares. The FVOCI and AFS investment is categorised at Level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy.

vi.

Interest Bearing Liabilities
The carrying amount of interest bearing liabilities approximates its fair value as it is short term in nature.

28. COMMITMENTS
i.

Lease Expenditure & Receivable Commitments
The Consolidated Entity leases stores under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period between 1-5 years, with an
option to renew the lease after lease expires. Lease payments are increased every year to reflect market rentals, either via CPI
index plus margin, as per industry standard and/or via negotiations.

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Within 1 year

1,320

1,267

1 to 5 years

2,906

2,475

-

-

4,226

3,742

Greater than 5 years

ii.

Lease Receivable commitment

2019

$‘000

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Within 1 year
1 to 5 years

iii.

363

225

767

779

1,130

1,004

Transaction Solutions Limited (TAS) commitments
The Consolidated Entity has a commitment to pay transaction fees based on a fixed agreement to TAS for at least the next 12
months which will amount to approximately $522,000 (2018: $535,200).
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Emergency Liquidity Support
The Consolidated Entity is a party to the Credit Union Financial Support System (CUFSS). CUFSS is a voluntary scheme that mutual
ADIs who are affiliated with Cuscal Ltd have agreed to participate in. CUFSS is a company limited by guarantee, each credit union’s
guarantee being $100.
As a member of CUFSS, the Consolidated Entity:
❙	May be required to advance funds of up to 3% (excluding permanent loans) of total assets to another mutual ADI on requiring
financial support.
❙	May be required to advance permanent loans of up to 0.20% of total assets per financial year to another mutual ADI requiring
financial support.
❙	Agrees, in conjunction with other members, to fund the operating costs of CUFSS.
No claims have been made during the financial year.
Community First has notified CUFSS of the intention to cancel membership as at 21 September 2019.
Reserve Bank Repurchase Obligations (REPO) Trust
The Credit Union has established the securitisation Trust to provide access to emergency liquidity support in the event of a systematic
liquidity crisis. The Trust is in substance controlled by the Credit Union. Accordingly, the Trust is consolidated into the Credit Union
financial statements. The Credit Union sells the rights to future cash flows of eligible residential home loans into the Trust and receives
funds equal to the aggregated outstanding balances on all loans which the Trust has purchased and subsequently issued Notes for
Investors to invest in. Two classes of notes were issued by the Trust and both are fully owned by the Credit Union. Whilst the rights
to the underlying cash flows have been transferred, the Credit Union has been appointed to service the loans and must continue to
manage the loans as if it were the lender. Accordingly, the mortgage loans and associated financial liability from the Trust on transfer of
the loans are recognised in the Credit Union’s financial statements. The balance of securitised loans at 30 June 2019 is $167,892,352
loans (30 June 2018: $81,043,716). The values of securitised loans which do not qualify for de-recognition from the balance sheet of
the consolidated entity.
Trademark Dispute
The Credit Union is involved in a court case relating to a trademark dispute with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank. The information usually
required by AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets is not disclosed on the grounds that may prejudice the
outcome of the court case. All costs incurred up to balance date have either been paid or fully provided for.
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30. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
Particulars in relation to the controlled entity:
Parent Entity
Community First Credit Union Limited.
Consolidated Entity and Credit union

2019

2018

%

%

Consolidated and Credit Union

Credit Card Company Pty Ltd.

100%

100%

Green Environmental Finance Pty Ltd.

100%

100%

easystreet Trust No. 1

100%

100%

31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Consolidated Entity, directly or indirectly. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.
Key Management Personnel have been taken to comprise the directors, associate directors and the executive management team
responsible for the day to day financial and operational management of the Consolidated Entity.
(a) Key Management Personnel Compensation
Key management personnel compensation included in “personnel expense” is as follows:

2019

2018

$

$

Consolidated and Credit Union

Short-term employee benefits

2,083,609

1,793,447

Other long term benefits

890,370

731,197

Post-employment benefits

204,505

163,609

-

-

Termination benefits

In the above table, remuneration shown as Short Term benefits includes (where applicable) wages, salaries, paid annual leave and
paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses, value of fringe benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense reimbursements.
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(b) Loans to Key Management Personnel

2019

2018

$

$

Consolidated and Credit Union

(i)

734,599

851,506

The total value of revolving credit facilities to Key Management Personnel,
as at Balance date amounted to

40,750

40,750

Less amounts drawn down and included in (i)

11,501

2,102

Net balance available

29,249

38,648

187,073

238,222

15,015

-

202,088

238,222

During the year the aggregate value of Revolving Credit Facility limits were
(reduced) / increased to Key Management Personnel amounted to:

-

-

(iv) Interest and other revenue earned on Loans and revolving credit facilities to
Key Management Personnel

24,978

32,372

(ii)

The aggregate value of loans to Key Management Personnel as at Balance
date amounted to

During the year the aggregate value of loans disbursed to Key
Management Personnel amounted to:
Revolving credit facilities
Term Loans

(iii)

The Consolidated Entity’s policy for lending to Key Management Personnel is that all loans are approved and deposits accepted on
the same terms and conditions which applied to members for each class of loan or deposit. There are no loans which are impaired
in relation to the loan balances with Key Management Personnel. There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions
applicable to the close family members of the Key Management Personnel. There are no loans which are impaired in relation to the
loan balances with close family relatives of Key Management Personnel.
(c) Other Key Management Personnel Transactions with the Consolidated Entity
Other transactions between related parties include deposits from Key Management Personnel and their related entities or close
family members. The Consolidated Entity’s policy for receiving deposits from other related parties and, in respect of other related
party transactions, is that all transactions are approved and deposits accepted on the same terms and conditions which applied
to members for each type of deposit. There are no benefits paid or payable to the close family members of the Key Management
Personnel. There are no service contracts to which Key Management Personnel or their close family members are an interested
party.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related Party Disclosures with respect to Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 31.

33. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
(a) Cuscal Limited
Cuscal supplies the Consolidated Entity rights to Member Cheques, Redicard and VISA card in Australia and provides services
in the form of settlement with Bankers for Member Cheques, EFT and VISA card transactions, and the production of VISA and
Redicards for use by members.
Cuscal also supplies aggregated financial banking services to the Consolidated Entity including treasury and money market
facilities. The Consolidated Entity maintains investments with Cuscal to comply with the Liquidity Support Scheme requirements.
(b) TransAction Solutions Limited (TAS)
TAS is a facilities management company owned by a small group of credit unions, of which Community First Credit Union is one.
TAS provides data centre facilities management, disaster recovery and some technology support services for the Consolidated
Entity.
(c) Ultradata Australia Pty Limited
This company provides and maintains the application software utilised by the Consolidated Entity.
(d) Service Contracts
All service contracts are capable of being cancelled within 12 months except for TAS. The amount paid to TAS during the year for
computer bureau facilities amount to $522,000 (2018: $535,200).

34. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Employee Leave Provision
Aggregate liability for employee entitlements, including on-costs:

2019

$‘000
Note

2018

$‘000

Consolidated and Credit Union

Provision for employee annual leave

22

957

995

Provision for employee long service leave

22

2,190

1,955

3,147

2,950

As at 30 June 2019, the Consolidated Entity employed 152 staff, comprising 108 full-time, 42 part-time and 2 casual employees. This
equates to a full time equivalent of 135 persons (2018: 164 staff, 113 full-time, 46 part-time and 5 casual employees. 139 full time
equivalent).
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35. SECURITISATION
In addition to the REPO trust disclosed in Note 29 the Consolidated Entity has an arrangement with Integris Securitisation Services
Pty Limited whereby it acts as an agent to promote loans on their behalf, for on sale to an investment trust. The Consolidated Entity
also manages the loans portfolio on behalf of the trust. The amount of securitised loans under management as at 30 June 2019 is
$5,838,051 (2018: $6,332,700). In April 2013, Cuscal announced the closure of the Integris Securitisation program and allowed the
gradual run down of the portfolio. The effective date of the closure commenced 1 March 2014.

36. RECEIVABLES AND ACQUISITION SERVICING AGREEMENT
The Credit Union has a Receivables Acquisition and Servicing Agreement with Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited (“BEN”) whereby the
Credit Union is able to sell loan receivables to BEN to a maximum of $100m. As at 30 June 2019 the balance outstanding under this
facility totalled nil (as at 30 June 2018 $1,618,309).

37. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Consolidated Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the
Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity, in future financial years.
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION
1

In the opinion of the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union):
(a)

the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 37– 77, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

		

(i)	giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union’s and the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its
performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

		

(ii)	complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.
2	The Directors draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statement, which includes a statement of compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Lowndes
Acting Chair		
Dated at Sydney this 29th day of August 2019.
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Mr Kenneth Pickering
Chair of Board Audit and Risk Committees

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
To the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Community First Credit Union Limited
for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 there have been:
i.	no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and
ii.	no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG			Nicholas Buchanan
Partner
					
Sydney
29 August 2019
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited
Opinions
We have audited the Financial Report of Community
First Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) and the
Financial Report of the Group.
In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Reports of
the Credit Union and the Group are in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, including:
•	giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union and
Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and
of its financial performance for the year ended on
that date; and
•	complying with Australian Accounting Standards
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The respective Financial Reports of the Credit Union
and the Group comprises:
•	Consolidated and Credit union’s statements of
financial position as at 30 June 2019.
•	Consolidated and Credit Union’s statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
statements of changes in equity, and statements
of cash flows for the year then ended.
•	Notes including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
•	Directors’ Declaration.
The Group consists of Community First Credit Union
Limited (the Credit Union) and the entities it controlled
at the year-end or from time to time during the financial
year.

Basis for opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
Financial Reports section of our report.
We are independent of the Group and Credit Union in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Reports in Australia. We have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information
Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Community First Credit Union Limited’s annual
reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are
responsible for the Other Information.
Our opinion on the Financial Reports do not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not express an
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Reports
The Directors are responsible for:
•	preparing Financial Reports that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;
•	implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of Financial Reports that gives a true and
fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
•	assessing the Group and Credit Union's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the
Group and Credit Union or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports
Our objective is:
•	to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Reports as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
•	to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Financial
Reports.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Reports is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf.
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report.

KPMG			Nicholas Buchanan
Partner
					
Sydney
29 August 2019
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NOTIFICATION OF COMMUNITY FIRST CREDIT UNION
60TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
An invitation to have your say

Attendance at AGM

Community First Credit Union is a member owned organisation,
also known as a Customer Owned Bank. As a member, you are
encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting (AGM) to catch
up on the past year’s performance; to listen to plans for the future;
to have your say and to vote on any matter on the Agenda. If you
are a member over the age of 18 and a current $2 shareholder, you
are eligible to vote at the AGM.

Attendance at the AGM and other meetings of members of
Community First enables members to:

The business at hand
In accordance with the Constitution of Community First, three
Directors, being Jacki Johnson, Stuart Korchinski and Stephen
Lowndes will retire this year, and being eligible for re-election,
intend to stand again. Should you wish to nominate someone
else for a position on the Board, an official nomination form can
be obtained by contacting Hung Truong on (02) 9735 1639. All
nominations must be received by the Returning Officer at the
address shown on the nomination form by 4.00pm Friday 2 August
2019. If there are more than three valid nominations, a postal ballot
will be conducted, otherwise the current directors will be re-elected.
The Banking Act and the related Australian Prudential Standards
require that directors or potential directors of an Authorised
Deposit-Taking Institution, of which Community First is one, be
subject to a “Fit and Proper Person” test and the Banking Executive
Accountability Regime (BEAR). This includes conducting checks
with the Australian Federal Police, Bankruptcy
Registers and the ASIC Register of Banned and Disqualified
Persons and be eligible to be registered and approved as an
accountable person with APRA and under any relevant prudential
standards. The standards also require that a director of an
Approved Deposit-Taking Institution must have appropriate skills,
experience and knowledge and must act with honesty and integrity.
The Board Nominations Committee role is to review nominees for
the position of Director and advise members of the suitability of
the nominee to fulfil the role of Director of Community First. They
will interview candidates for the election of directors, including the
retiring directors, to verify their claimed knowledge and experience
to ensure they have the necessary skills for the role and to establish
a view as to whether or not they will be considered suitable for
election as directors. These views are then expressed in the
election material mailed to members so that you are better able to
make an informed decision on who you should favour with your
vote.

Further information
The official notice of Community First’s AGM will be sent to
members who have opted in to receive personal notice and will be
advertised in the Public Notices section of The Sydney Morning
Herald at least 21 days prior to the AGM. The notice will also
be displayed in each of our Financial Services Stores. Copies
of Financial Statements and the Report of the Directors will be
available at each of our Financial Services Stores from no later than
30 September 2019.
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❙	
Participate in the governance of Community First;
❙ D
 iscuss any proposal you would like the Directors to consider in
the future for Community First;
❙ A
 sk the auditor questions about the conduct of the audit and
about the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.
You have the option of appointing a proxy to vote on your behalf
at this meeting. Your proxy can be a person specifically named by
you or can be the Chairperson of the meeting, as stated by you on
the proxy form. You may request a proxy form on the coupon in this
newsletter.

Details for your diary
60th Annual General Meeting

Place: 	Community First Credit Union
67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn
(entrance via Hall Street)
Date:	
Thursday 24 October 2019
Time: 	Registration of attendees will commence at 5.00pm.
The meeting will commence at 6.00pm
RSVP:	If you plan to attend, please contact
Community First Direct on
1300 13 22 77 by 11 October 2019

GLOSSARY
AGM

Annual General Meeting is commonly abbreviated as AGM and is the meeting of the general
membership of the credit union.

Amigo

The Amigo Credit Card is a white-label credit card product offered to other credit unions to provide to
their members under an agreed shared-income arrangement.

Google Pay

A digital wallet platform developed by Google that offers members a smart way to make fast
purchases with compatible credit or debit cards, across Android devices that is both simple and
secure.

Apple Pay

Apple Pay is a digital wallet from Apple which lets users use a compatible iPhone, Apple Watch or
iPad to make secure contactless purchases in stores, within selected apps and participating websites.

BuiLD

BuiLD is a new and comprehensive 17 week learning and development program for staff providing
them with the skills and knowledge to best serve our members.

Club Rewards

An innovative and unique account with a Visa Debit card which is designed to integrate with the
rewards or loyalty programs of participating clubs.

Corporate Governance

The system of rules, relationships, policies and processes by which a business is operated, regulated
and controlled by.

Community Banking

A financial institution which is typically locally owned and operated and tends to focus on the needs of
supporting and helping the local community where the institution is located.

Credit Union

A credit union is a member-owned financial co-operative. These institutions are created and operated
by their members and profits are shared amongst the owners and future generations.

Customer Owned
Banking

Alternative banking model to the listed model in retail banking and is made up of mutual banks, credit
unions and building societies who aim to deliver great service, highly competitive pricing and an
unmatched customer focus to their members.

Distribution network
or channels

How we reach our members or how our members reach us. This can include the website, social
media, Financial Services Stores or via our call centre.

easystreet

easystreet is an online only self-service financial services brand owned by Community First Credit
Union.

Green Loan

The green loan is an unsecured personal loan that can be used to finance the purchase of approved
environmentally friendly products such as solar panels and hot water systems.

Loans to Members

Is the total amount owed to Community First from home loans, personal loans, credit cards and
overdrafts.

Macro-prudential
controls

Macro-prudential controls are approaches to financial regulation which aim to mitigate risk to the
financial system as a whole.

Matrimoney

A Matrimoney account is a safer and more convenient way for engaged couples to request the gift of
money instead of presents for their wedding day.

McGrath Foundation

A breast cancer support and education charity in Australia, which raises money to place McGrath
Breast Care Nurses in communities right across Australia, as well as increasing breast awareness in
young Australian women.

Member

A member is a shareholder. Meaning a member ‘owns’ part of the credit union and can have their say
of the credit union’s future at the AGM which is held annually.

Member Deposits

Consists of at-call savings, term deposits and membership shares

Mobile Banking App

A software application that is designed to run on mobile devices such as smartphones and tablet
computers.

Mutuality

The concept that a financial institution exists for its members: being customer owned organisations,
they are fully owned by their members. It is not a publicly-listed company and so, unlike the publiclylisted banks, don’t have the pressure to maximise profits to pay external shareholders. Instead under
mutuality profits go back into better rates, fairer fees, responsible lending and outstanding customer
service.

Net Promoter Score
(NPS)

A metric used to measure member advocacy i.e. how readily a member would promote a product or
service to friends, family members or colleagues.
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New Payments Platform

Allows payments to be received almost instantly – 24/7 using just the member’s mobile number, email
address or ABN, eliminating the need to share a BSB or an account number.

PayID

PayID is the name of the New Payments Platform addressing service. It’s a function of the platform
that allows consumers to link financial accounts to easy-to-remember pieces of information such as
phone numbers and email addresses.

Products

Products are banking products that are created by the credit union. These can be items such as credit
cards, home loans, term deposits and transactions accounts.

Financial Services Royal
Commission

A Royal Commission into Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services Industry
which was established on 14 December 2017.

Samsung Pay

Samsung Pay is a mobile payment and digital wallet service by Samsung Electronics that lets users
make payments using compatible phones and other Samsung-produced devices.

Starburst Day

Is the credit union’s staff development day that is held annually.

Total Assets

Is the total of all Community First Credit Union assets.

Total Members Equity

Is the accumulated profits and reserves held by Community First. The credit union’s member equity
now exceeds $78.5 million. The credit union has never been stronger.

ABBREVIATIONS
AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

ECL

Expected Credit Loss

ADI

Authorised Deposit-taking Institution

EOWA

Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace
Agency

AFSL

Australian Financial Services Licence

ACL

Australian Credit Licence

FSR

Financial Services Reform

AGM

Annual General Meeting

FVOCI

Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

ALCO

Assets and Liabilities Committee

FVTPL

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

AIFRS

Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards

GST

Goods and Services Tax

HLQA

High Quality Liquid Assets

APRA

Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

ICAAP

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process

ASIC

Australian Securities and Investments Commission

NBCU

Northern Beaches Credit Union

ATO

Australian Tax Office

NPP

New Payments Platform

BEAR

Banking Executive Accountability Regime

NPS

Net Promoter Score

CAPE

Combined Australia Petroleum Employees

OCI

Other Comprehensive Income

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

SPPI

Solely Payments of Principal Interest

COBA

Customer Owned Banking Association

TAS

Transaction Solutions

CUFFS

Credit Union Financial Support System

VAR

Value at Risk

CUSCAL

Credit Union Services Corporation Australia Limited

WHS

Work Health and Safety
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OUR STORE
LOCATIONS

1. Bankstown
02 9735 1783
Shop P009, Podium Level,
Bankstown Central

2. Belmont
02 4393 8486
571 Pacific Highway

3. Blacktown
02 9735 1571
Blacktown Workers Club
55 Campbell Street

4. Dee Why
02 8245 8200
17-19 Oaks Avenue

5. Edgeworth
02 4954 3225
Shop 1, Building B
Edgeworth Town Square

6. Erina
02 4393 8480
Shop T377, Erina Fair

7. Gorokan
02 4393 8481
66-68 Wallarah Road

8. Kurnell
02 8245 8270
House 5, Caltex Refinery
Solander Street

9. Liverpool
02 9735 1782
Shop 167, Westfield Liverpool

10. Mt Druitt
02 9735 1781
Shop 11, Westfield Mt Druitt

11. Narellan
02 9735 1784
Shop 309, Narellan Town Centre

12. Penrith
02 9735 1780
Shop 032, Nepean Village

13. Rouse Hill
02 9735 1792
Shop GR164, Rouse Hill Town Centre

14. Warriewood
02 8245 8230
Shop SP018, Warriewood Square

ABN 80 087 649 938

AFSL/Australian credit licence 231204

Registered Office
Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn NSW 2144
PO Box 98, Lidcombe NSW 1825

Contact Us
1300 13 22 77
askus@communityfirst.com.au
www.communityfirst.com.au

